# Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

7-20-2017 12:00 AM

# Disturbance and the Community Composition of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Ontario Tallgrass Prairies

Sarah N. Allan The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr. R. Greg Thorn *The University of Western Ontario* 

Graduate Program in Biology A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Master of Science © Sarah N. Allan 2017

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Environmental Microbiology and Microbial Ecology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Allan, Sarah N., "Disturbance and the Community Composition of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Ontario Tallgrass Prairies" (2017). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 4835. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/4835

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### Abstract

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Glomeromycota) form beneficial symbiotic relationships with the majority of land plants, especially in grasslands. Tallgrass prairies in Ontario are an endangered plant community currently being restored on former agricultural land. The objectives of my study were to determine if there were differences in the communities of Glomeromycota between disturbed and undisturbed tallgrass prairies in Ontario and if there were any potential indicator taxa for the ends of the disturbance spectrum. A molecular approach using DNA derived from soil samples was used to compare species composition between disturbed and undisturbed tallgrass prairies. A total of 177 operational taxonomic units (OTUs) in nine genera of Glomeromycota were retrieved. Analyses showed a clear pattern of disturbed and undisturbed prairies clustering separately based on species composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, and distinguished OTUs that were indicators of disturbed (*Claroideoglomus* and select *Glomus* spp.) or undisturbed (*Ambispora*, *Diversispora*, and *Glomus* spp.) sites.

# Keywords

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, Glomeromycota, tallgrass prairie, soil fungal community, disturbance, restoration, Illumina Miseq, ribosomal DNA, PCR, biodiversity.

## Acknowledgments

Firstly, I thank Dr. Greg Thorn for being a patient, guiding and positive supervisor who has helped me learn and grow as a mycologist. Secondly, I acknowledge André Lachance and Hugh Henry for being a part of my advisory committee, and for their helpful feedback and suggestions. A big thank you from the entire Thorn lab to Dr. Greg Gloor who supplied us with the pipeline used for our high throughput sequencing and code used for our statistical analyses. Acknowledgements to The Right Honourable Herb Gray Parkway, Ministry of Transportation Ontario, Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, Jenna Quinn at the *rare* Charitable Research Reserve, the Ojibway Prairie Provincial Nature Reserve, Clint Jacobs from Walpole Island First Nation, and the Nature Conservancy of Canada. Without them I would not have had the amazing opportunity of spending a summer exploring Ontario's tallgrass prairies. An extra thank you to the *rare* Charitable Research Reserve for the *rare* Scholarship in Graduate Research.

I thank all of my lab mates, Nimalka Weerasuriya, Asma Asemaninejad, Jennifer McDonald, and Chris Hay for their advice, support and friendship. I could not have completed my project without their help with both my field and lab work. The hours of conversation and laughs in our office will continue to be one of my fondest memories. An extra thank you to Nimalka for her endless positive support with all things bioinformatics as well as teaching me everything I know about lab work.

I am grateful to have family and friends that have supported and encouraged me throughout my Graduate degree. I am thankful to have encouragement and love from my parents Betty and Russell, my siblings Lindsay and Tyler, their partners Cassidy and Skye, my niece Morgan and my wonderful husband Travis.

# Table of Contents

Abstracti
Acknowledgmentsii
Table of Contentsiii
List of Tables v
List of Figures vi
List of Abbreviations
List of Appendices
Chapter 1 1
1 Introduction
1.1 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi 1
1.2 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities
1.3 Molecular studies and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi
1.4 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and disturbance
1.5 Tallgrass prairies7
1.6 Tallgrass prairies and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi
1.7 Objectives
Chapter 2
2 Materials and Methods
2.1 Sampling locations
2.2 Soil Sampling
2.3 DNA extraction with kit
2.4 Past soil sampling 16
2.5 Molecular analysis 16
2.6 Bioinformatics

	2.7 Transformation of sequence data	18
	2.8 Statistical analyses	19
	2.9 Phylogenetic analysis	20
Ch	apter 3	21
3	Results	21
	3.1 Sequence information	21
	3.2 Differences between seasons	23
	3.3 Differences between disturbed and undisturbed tallgrass prairies	23
	3.4 Arbuscular mycorrhizal communities and potential indicator taxa	29
Ch	apter 4	32
4	Discussion	32
	4.1 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in Ontario tallgrass prairies	33
	4.2 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and disturbance	35
	4.3 Potential indicator taxa	38
	4.4 Future research	41
	4.5 Conclusions	42
	References	43
Ap	pendices	52
Cu	rriculum Vitae	60

# List of Tables

<b>Table 2.1.</b> Thirteen tallgrass prairie sites across five sampling locations.	14
<b>Table 3.1.</b> Table of significant taxa derived from ALDEx2	26
Table 4.1. Potential indicator taxa for soil disturbance	40

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Locations of sampling sites across southern Ontario    13
Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of the nuclear ribosomal DNA regions
<b>Figure 3.1.</b> A) Genera of 177 Glomeromycotan OTUs obtained from field sampling in 13 tallgrass prairies in Ontario, showing the percentage of OTUs recovered. B) Proportion of OTUs accepted by MaarjAM
Figure 3.2. Compositional biplot with scree plot for 13 tallgrass prairie sites23
<b>Figure 3.3.</b> Compositional biplot with scree plot for 13 tallgrass prairie sites, combined data from June/July and October
<b>Figure 3.4.</b> Evolutionary relationships of 25 taxa differing significantly in their occurrence between disturbed and undisturbed TGPs in Ontario
<b>Figure 3.5.</b> Compositional biplot with scree plot for 13 tallgrass prairie sites, combined data from June/July and October. Compositional data was centre-log transformed. Twenty-five important OTUs determined using ALDEx2 were used
<b>Figure 3.6.</b> Cluster dendrogram and relative abundance bar plots for 13 tallgrass prairies with different disturbance histories in Ontario
<b>Figure 3.7.</b> Heatmap of 25 significant OTUs with different relative abundances between disturbed and undisturbed tallgrass prairies

# List of Abbreviations

ALDEx2	ANOVA-Like Differential Expression tool
AMF	Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi
BF	Blair Flats rare Charitable Research Reserve
DM	De Maere Prairie Nature Conservancy of Canada
EL	Eliza's Prairie in WIFN
FRS 23	Final Restoration site 23 Herb Gray Parkway
FRS 27	Final Restoration site 27 Herb Gray Parkway
FRS 28	Final Restoration site 28 Herb Gray Parkway
FRS 32	Final Restoration site 32 Herb Gray Parkway
MI	Mike's Field in WIFN
OPC1	Ojibway Prairie Complex site 1
OPC2	Ojibway Prairie Complex site 2
OTUs	Operational taxonomic units
PO	Pottawatomi Prairie in WIFN
SA	Sandpits Field in WIFN
SI	Silphium Prairie in WIFN
TGPs	Tallgrass prairies
VT	Virtual taxon/taxa
WIFN	Walpole Island First Nation

# List of Appendices

Appendix A. A list of all 177 OTUs of Glomeromycota recovered from 13 tallgrass prairies
in Ontario using AMF primers
Appendix B. A list of all 43 OTUs of Glomeromycota recovered from 13 tallgrass prairies in
Ontario using BG primers

## Chapter 1

## 1 Introduction

## 1.1 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi

Certain fungi form a mutualistic relationship with the roots of living plants in a symbiotic association referred to as a mycorrhiza (pl. mycorrhizae). Mycorrhizal fungi exchange soil nutrients (such as phosphorus) and water for the plants' photosynthates. There are several different types of mycorrhizae, of which the most abundant are the arbuscular mycorrhizae (Smith and Read 2008). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are obligate symbionts that cannot survive without their plant hosts and colonize a wide variety of land plants with the exception of a few plant families such as Brassicaceae (Smith and Read 2008, Brundrett 2009).

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi are part of the monophyletic phylum Glomeromycota (Schüßler et al. 2001). Glomeromycota were once classified under the Zygomycota as the order "Glomales" (a misspelling; Morton and Benny 1990), but molecular analysis suggested that they are a phylum of their own (Schüßler et al. 2001). There are now four orders of Glomeromycota: Glomerales, Paraglomerales, Diversisporales and Achaeosporales (Schüßler and Walker 2010, Redecker et al. 2013). The four orders are divided into 11 families and 25 genera (Schüßler and Walker 2010, Redecker et al. 2013). To date approximately 250 morphospecies have been described with this number increasing regularly due to all of the studies now focusing on AMF (Schüßler and Walker 2010, Redecker et al. 2013). Evidence of AMF spores and hyphae have been discovered in early land plants dating back to the Devonian (Rosendahl 2008). This supports the widely assumed hypothesis that AMF played a major role in the colonization of land by plants (Pirozynski and Malloch 1975, Malloch et al. 1980, Berbee and Taylor 1993, Smith and Read 2008).

A characteristic feature of AMF is the presence of arbuscules, which are structures of finely branched hyphae in the cortical cells of host plant roots (Douds and Millner 1999). An arbuscule forms after the fungus has penetrated a root cortical cell of a plant, and all of its branches are surrounded by the plant plasmalemma (Smith and Read 2008). The arbuscule is the site of exchange between the fungus and the plant. Some families of Glomeromycota (Archaeosporaceae, Gigasporaceae and Paraglomeraceae) produce vesicles, which are enlarged portions of hyphae used for storage and as potential reproductive structures (Willis et al. 2013). The vast network of extraradical hyphae of AMF goes beyond the plant roots, allowing the fungi to access nutrient pools and water far from the plant root being colonized. The hyphae are coenocytic (multinucleate) and predominantly aseptate. Hyphae of AMF are very broad compared to those of other fungi, being (2-) 10-20 (-50)  $\mu$ m in diameter (http://invam.wvu.edu/the-fungi), but still very fine compared to plant roots. The spores or sporocarps of AMF are thought to be produced asexually (Smith and Read 2008), but there is recent evidence of sexual recombination and mating-type genes in at least some taxa (Halary et al. 2013, Riley and Corradi 2013, Ropars et al. 2016). The spores are produced individually, in the soil or in decaying roots, whereas sporocarps are clusters of thousands of spores, sometimes in a differentiated tissue (Morton 1988). The spores of AMF range from 40 to greater than 800  $\mu$ m in diameter (Smith and Read 2008).

Host plants provide AMF with photosynthetically derived carbohydrates in exchange for nutrients and water that the plant is unable to obtain. The extensive extraradical mycelial networks of AMF are able to reach and explore more areas than plant roots, protecting plants from nutrient and drought stress. Plant health is aided by AMF by an increase in reproductive success and offspring survival (Koide and Dickie 2002). Plants associated with AMF also are benefited by an increased tolerance of heavy metals, pathogenic fungi and nematodes (Allen et al. 1995, Johnson et al. 1997, van der Heijden et al. 1998, Jeffries et al. 2003, Vandenkoornhuyse et al. 2002). Surrounding soil benefits from AMF as the extraradical hyphae secrete glomalin, a glycoprotein that enhances the stability of soil aggregates, which enhance the resistance of soils to erosion (Wright and Upadhyaya 1996).

# 1.2 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities

The importance of AMF for plant success is widely accepted, but studies of the diversity and dynamics of AM fungal communities are only now beginning to take off. Plant community composition and structure are influenced by AM fungal communities (van der Heijden et al. 1998). Understanding AM fungal communities will allow for a better understanding of how AMF structure plant communities. Communities of AMF consist of many different species and rarely is there only one species of AMF present in a host plant (Morton 1999, Helgason et al. 1999, Bever et al. 2001). Community composition of AMF can be related to host species, season and life stage of host plant (Eom et al. 2000, Bever et al. 2001, Helgason et al. 2002, Husband et al. 2002, Vandenkoornhuyse et al. 2002). More information is needed to determine if there are seasonal differences in AMF community composition, because other studies have not found seasonal differences in the community composition of AMF (Rosendahl and Stukenbrock 2004, Santos-Gonzales et al. 2007). Plant community composition is suggested to influence AM fungal communities (van der Heijdan et al. 1998, Eom et al. 2000, Vogelsang et al. 2006). The addition of nitrogen has been shown to shift AM fungal communities (Egerton-Warburton and Allen 2000, Jumpponen et al. 2005). According to studies conducted on AMF within plant roots, AM fungal communities differ depending on plant community type, such as tropical forests, grasslands and temperate forests (Öpik et al. 2006).

Historically, studies of AMF communities have utilized morphological identification, spore density estimates and greenhouse studies with trap cultures to determine AMF diversity and species composition. Morphological studies require expert knowledge and the ability to determine microscopic variation in spore colour, shape, size, and number and ornamentation of spore wall layers (Willis et al. 2013). The characteristic arbuscules of AMF do not help with identification, because they do not distinguish between different species (Jeffries et al. 2003). The choice of plant species used for trap cultures may influence which AMF are found (Brundrett et al. 1994). Morphological identification is time-consuming and sometimes uncertain or subjective (with identifications varying depending on the observer; Sanders 2004, Willis et al. 2013). Because of these limitations, there has been an increase in molecular identification of AMF, which has permitted better description of AMF communities (Öpik et al. 2006, Öpik et al. 2009, Öpik et al. 2010). Molecular studies allow us to better understand the genetic similarities of AM fungal taxa between AMF communities from different ecosystems.

When comparing past descriptions of AMF communities from morphological and molecular studies we can see that there are differences in the number of AMF species that are found. Morphological studies find fewer species than molecular studies, usually averaging below 20 species of AMF (Stover et al. 2012), because they may miss taxa that sporulate less abundantly. Early molecular studies from forest ecosystems showed 34 and 47 AM fungal taxa recovered, respectively (Öpik et al. 2008, Öpik et al. 2009). More recent next generation sequencing (NGS) studies have recovered 117 AM fungal OTUs (operational taxonomic units; Bainard et al. 2015), showing that next generation sequencing allows for better characterization of AM fungal communities because of the increased sequencing depth. Morphological studies find the majority of AM fungal taxa to be from Glomerales, while molecular studies can uncover AM fungal taxa from all 4 Glomeromycotan orders.

#### 1.3 Molecular studies and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi

Morphological identification is difficult and time consuming. Culturing and identifying AMF using morphology is not an exact science as not all AMF produce spores or they can not be cultured (Smith and Read 2008). Studies that focus on culturing AMF, using spore numbers and trap cultures may not be good methods for characterizing AMF communities (Sanders 2004, Jeffries et al. 2003, Willis et al. 2013). Molecular techniques have thus become the typical method for the identification of AMF (Redecker and Raab 2006, Öpik et al. 2006, Rosendahl 2008, Öpik et al. 2014).

Molecular studies involving AMF use PCR primers based on ribosomal DNA (rDNA). Primers target rDNA genes because they have a high copy number, have variable regions and are highly conserved (Redecker et al. 2003). Specifically, most primers target the nuclear ribosomal small subunit (SSU). Numerous AMF-specific primers that target the SSU have been used effectively to characterize AM fungal species from culture collections and environmental samples (Simon et al. 1992, Sato et al. 2005, Lee et al. 2008). Although most primers target the SSU when studying AMF, a few studies have used the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) or large subunit (LSU) regions of the nuclear ribosomal operon (Gollotte et al. 2004, Krüger et al. 2009). The SSU is used because it was the first region used for molecular identification of Glomeromycota, so most information available is based on the SSU region (Öpik et al. 2014). Further studies are required to determine if the SSU is the best target region for AMF identification or if the ITS or LSU regions would be

better for species-level identification (Öpik et al. 2014). Molecular studies on AMF have begun using next generation sequencing to characterize AMF communities (Öpik et al. 2006, Öpik et al. 2009, Lumini et al. 2010, Bainard et al. 2015). Next generation sequencing is a high throughput DNA sequencing technology that builds DNA strands in a massively parallel fashion yielding more sequences than other sequencing methods such as Sanger sequencing. Next generation sequencing allows for more species to be detected from samples. The use of next generation sequencing will provide a depth of information regarding AMF communities that was unattainable with morphological studies.

Molecular studies and interest in AMF is increasing. There is now a curated database of reference sequences dedicated to the DNA-based identification of AMF (MaarjAM; http://maarjam.botany.ut.ee/; Öpik et al. 2010). MaarjAM has type sequences called virtual taxa that are helpful in comparing genetic relatedness between sequences. Virtual taxa are phylogenetically defined groups of SSU sequences that have a sequence identity greater or equal to 97 percent; currently there are 348 virtual taxa (Öpik et al. 2014). The MaarjAM database is based on the SSU rDNA gene sequences. The database also collects LSU and ITS sequences of rDNA and sequences of mitochondrial and protein-encoding genes that have been used to identify Glomeromycota (Öpik et al. 2014). This database is focused on streamlining molecular identification and collecting information on ecology and global distribution of AMF, which prior to this database was lacking.

#### 1.4 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and disturbance

Studies on the effects of disturbance on AMF are prevalent in recent research. Determining how AMF are affected by disturbance is important, because it will provide insight into the ecology of AMF, which is not well known. Most studies focus on disturbance related to agriculture, because AMF are associated with crop plants. Unfortunately, most studies focusing on disturbance and AMF utilized morphological and molecular methods that strongly constrained the species of AMF found. Studies using NGS will better characterize how disturbance affects the species composition of AMF.

The effects on AMF of the addition of abiotic factors such as nitrogen and phosphorus also have been studied. The addition of phosphorus-rich fertilizer does not affect spore density or diversity of AMF (Mathimaran et al. 2005). Plants are often challenged to find available phosphorus in soil and a major benefit of AM symbiosis is the transfer of phosphorus to the plant from the AM fungal partner. A different trend is observed with N addition. Increased nitrogen additions caused a decrease in species richness of AMF and a shift in AMF communities to taxa with small spores, such as *Glomus* (Egerton-Warburton and Allen 2000).

Studies on disturbance related to agricultural practices mainly focus on tillage. Tillage disrupts the hyphal networks of AMF. The extraradical hyphae of AMF play an important role in AM symbiosis, so disruption of the network should have an effect on AMF. Soil disturbance decreases AMF species composition and richness (Boddington and Dodd 2000, Jansa et al. 2002, Lumini et al. 2010). Soil disturbance damages the external mycelial network and causes a decrease in the level of AMF colonization within plant roots (Jansa et al. 2003, Mirás-Avalos et al. 2011). Overall, tilled and no-tilled sites have different communities of AMF (Galvez et al. 2001, Jansa et al. 2002, Li et al. 2007, Lumini et al. 2010, Mirás-Avalos et al. 2011, Stover et al. 2012, Bainard et al. 2015).

Soil disturbance also decreases the overall biomass of AMF in roots and soil (Miller et al. 1995, Schnoor et al. 2011). Both spore density and hyphal length are negatively affected by tillage (Boddington and Dodd 2000, Jansa et al. 2002, Oehl et al. 2003, Galvez et al. 2001, Li et al. 2007). Infectivity of AMF and subsequent nutrient uptake by their host plants is reduced by the disruption of the hyphal network (Jasper et al. 1989, Evans and Miller 1990, Miller et al. 1995, Kabir et al. 1999, Mirás-Avalos et al. 2011). Tillage not only influences AMF, but also affects the soil. Tillage decreases aggregate stability by severing mycelia and causing a decrease in the production of glomalin (Wright and Upadhyaya 1996, Kabir et al. 1999). Thus, in general, agricultural disturbance has a negative influence on AMF, and more information is needed to understand how tillage and land use affect the success of plants and AMF in previously tilled land. This information would be helpful in determining if sites that were used for agriculture can be used in the restoration of endangered ecosystems, such as tallgrass prairies.

Although disturbance is known to affect AMF communities, the effect of disturbance on particular taxa of AMF is not well known. Some previous studies have suggested that there are disturbance-sensitive and disturbance-tolerant taxa. According to Hamel et al. (1994), disturbance increases disturbance resistant species which sporulate abundantly and decreases disturbance sensitive species which sporulate less, leading to differences in species composition of AMF. Scutellospora have been shown to be reduced in tilled soil and soil with increased nitrogen addition (Jansa et al. 2002, Jansa et al. 2003, Li et al. 2007, Egerton-Warburton and Allen 2000). *Glomus* spp. dominate agricultural soils and are suggested to be tolerant of disturbance (Jansa et al. 2003, Lumini et al. 2010, Mirás-Avalos et al. 2011, Bainard et al. 2015). Glomus spp. are also found in abundance in undisturbed soil, suggesting that this genus contains generalist species (Mathimaran et al. 2005, Lumini et al. 2010, Bainard et al. 2015). *Gigaspora* spp. are large-spored and suggested to be disturbance tolerant, because the spores are able to survive tillage and other soil disturbances (Hart and Reader 2004, Soteras et al. 2015). Information on Paraglomerales and Archaeosporales is limited, because these groups are hard to detect with previously utilized primers (e.g., the AM1 primer) that do not match with the SSU portion of these taxa (Redecker 2000, Alguacil et al. 2008). To increase knowledge of AM fungal ecology further, studies of how disturbance structures AM fungal communities and the disturbance threshold of different AM fungal species are necessary. Although most studies have been conducted on agricultural fields, the exploration of AMF community composition in ecosystems undergoing restoration would be beneficial, because habitat restoration and conservation of ecosystems is important for the maintenance of biodiversity.

#### 1.5 Tallgrass prairies

The following information about tallgrass prairies in southern Ontario was based on Bowles (2005) and Rodger (1998). Tallgrass prairies (TGPs) are an endangered plant community type that are characterized by less than 10% tree cover and dominated by bunch-grasses such as Indiangrass (*Sorghastrum nutans*) and Big Bluestem (*Andropogon gerardii*). Tallgrass prairies have a high diversity of vascular plants beyond grasses; many of them rare and only found within remnant prairies. Southern Ontario once contained 100,000 hectares of TGP, but, due to conversion of TGP to agriculture and other land uses less than one percent of TGP remains. The largest remnants of TGP in Ontario are located in Windsor and Walpole Island First Nation (WIFN).

Tallgrass prairies in southern Ontario are being restored by the Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry (MNRF), the Nature Conservancy of Canada (NCC) and by smaller agencies like the *rare* Charitable Research Reserve (http://raresites.org/). Tallgrass prairies in southern Ontario are being restored to ensure that certain endangered species which only grow and live in TGPs are maintained and protected. Remnant Ontario TGPs contain many endangered species, such as Eastern Prairie White Fringed-orchid (*Platanthera leucophaea*) and Small Fringed Lady's-slipper (*Cypripedium candidum*) (Rodger 1998, Bowles 2005). The plant diversity found within southern Ontario remnant TGPs provides shelter and food for a variety of vertebrate and invertebrate animals (Rodger 1998). Some animals supported by TGPs are threatened, such as Butler's garter snakes (*Thamnophis butleri*), or endangered, such as spotted turtles (*Clemmys guttata*) (Rodger 1998, Bowles 2005).

#### 1.6 Tallgrass prairies and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi

I am surveying AMF communities in TGPs in southern Ontario, because studies in these areas are limited (Chokroborty Hoque 2011, Stover et al. 2012). Previous studies were unable to utilize the improved molecular techniques that are now available for characterizing AMF communities.

Tallgrass prairies are a type of grassland shaped by AMF. The predominant mycorrhizal relationship in TGPs is with AMF. Tallgrass prairies are dominated by warm-season  $C_4$  grasses, such as *Andropogon gerardii* (Big Bluestem), that have high mycorrhizal dependence (Hartnett and Wilson 1999, McCain et al. 2011). Dominant grasses typical of TGPs in southern Ontario require AM fungal associations to receive the soil nutrients that they are unable to take up due to their small root absorptive area.

Due to the importance of AM symbioses in grasslands, many studies of the interaction between AMF and plant communities have been conducted. However, the patterns of AM fungal diversity and composition are still not well known in TGPs. Understanding the relationship between AM fungal communities and aboveground plant communities is important for the conservation of TGPs. Plant productivity and diversity in TGPs is influenced by the species composition of AMF (van der Heijdan et al. 1998, Eom et al. 2000, Vogelsang et al. 2006). Past studies suggest that AMF shape TGP plant communities due to AMF having some degree of host specificity (van der Heijdan et al. 1998, Hartnett and Wilson 1999, Smith et al. 1999, Vogelsang et al. 2006). Plant community composition in TGPs is altered by the suppression or disruption of the AM fungal community (Hartnett and Wilson 1999, Smith et al. 1999). In studies where AMF were suppressed with fungicides, the abundance of dominant warm-season grasses decreased, while C<sub>3</sub> grasses and forbs, which have lower mycorrhizal dependencies, increased in abundance (Hartnett and Wilson 1999).

The conversion of TGP to agriculture and other land uses has endangered this type of grassland, which is habitat to many endangered plants and animals. Restoration attempts focus on re-establishing the aboveground plant communities, but the belowground microbial communities may also need to be restored. Because many restoration sites were previously agricultural fields, the AMF communities have been degraded by years of tillage, and fertilizer and fungicide application (Jasper et al. 1989, Douds and Milner 1999, Jeffries et al. 2003). Recent studies have investigated the use of commercial AM fungal inoculum versus AM fungal inoculum from native TGPs, and they suggest that inoculum from native TGPs – although more difficult – to obtain may improve restoration attempts (Smith et al. 1998, Paluch et al. 2013, Middleton et al. 2015). More information is needed on AM fungal communities of native and restored TGPs to better understand the influence of AMF on the restoration of TGPs.

# 1.7 Objectives

The purpose of my research was to understand better the ecology of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in Ontario tallgrass prairies, starting with an analysis of their community composition. The objectives of my research were to use next generation sequencing to describe the species composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in tallgrass prairies with different disturbance histories, and to determine if there are potential indicator taxa for the ends of the disturbance spectrum. I conducted surveys in thirteen tallgrass prairies with

different disturbance histories located in southern Ontario and determined the species composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in all of the sites. I predicted that recently disturbed sites would have a different species composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi than historically or never disturbed sites.

#### Chapter 2

#### 2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Sampling locations

Soil samples were collected from never tilled and restored tallgrass prairies in five sampling locations across southern Ontario (Figure 2.1). Thirteen different tallgrass prairies were sampled in June/July and October 2014 to account for AMF with different seasonal patterns. In Walpole Island First Nation there were five sites with different disturbance histories (Figure 2.2); disturbance histories are listed in Table 2. Four sites were converted from natural TGP to agricultural fields at one point in time. Silphium Prairie (0.96 ha; 42.628 N, 82.500 W) was the only prairie remnant among these five sites that was not known to have been disturbed by agricultural tillage. Eliza's Prairie (1.9 ha; 42.580 N, 82.489 W) was tilled in the late 1940s. A small part of Pottawatomi Prairie (13 ha; 42.550 N, 82.500 W) was briefly farmed prior to 1943. Mike's Field (0.3 ha; 42.580 N, 82.494 W) was a TGP converted to row crops, then abandoned from corn production in 1990. Since Mike's Field was unavailable for sampling in 2014, all data were from soil collected by Chokroborty Hoque (2011). Sandpits Field (1.67 ha; 42.627 N, 82.502 W) was located beside Silphium Prairie and was a TGP converted to agricultural production from 2002 to 2006. Plant communities at these sites were described by Stover et al. (2012). In Norfolk County, Ontario, one tallgrass prairie site (De Maere Home) was sampled; the disturbance history of the site is listed in Table 2. De Maere Home tallgrass prairie (20.9 ha; 42.685 N, 80.464 W) was a tobacco field until 2003, and then alternated between a corn and soybean crop until 2010 (McPhee et al. 2015). In 2010 the site was restored to a tallgrass prairie by the Nature Conservancy of Canada. In June 2010, a nitrogen addition experiment began at this location (McPhee et al. 2015). This location was sampled by Catomeris (2015) in 2014; only data from the control plots were utilized in my analyses. Near Cambridge, Ontario, one tallgrass prairie site was sampled; the disturbance history is listed in Table 2. Blair Flats (17.4 ha; 43.384 N, 80.373 W) was a corn field in 2007 and a soybean field in 2008 and 2009. In 2010 the site was restored to a tallgrass prairie by the rare Charitable Research Reserve (Craig et al. 2014). In Windsor, Ontario, two tallgrass prairie sites in the Ojibway Prairie Complex were sampled; the disturbance histories are

listed in Table 2. Ojibway Prairie Provincial Nature Reserve (105 ha) site 1 (42.263 N, 83.071 W) and site 2 (42.261 N, 83.068 W) had never been mechanically tilled for agriculture. The Ojibway Prairie Provincial Nature Reserve was farmsteads from around 1750 to early 1770s and may have been non-mechanically tilled (Lajeunesse 1960; Kenyon 1976). The Ojibway Prairie Provincial Nature Reserve is designated in this thesis as an example of a pristine tallgrass prairie, because it has been burned (earliest burn 2003) and contains species, such as dense blazing star (Liatris spicata), indicative of a pristine tallgrass prairie. In Windsor, Ontario, four tallgrass prairie sites part of the Herb Gray Parkway restoration project were sampled; the disturbance histories are listed in Table 2. The current 74 ha tallgrass prairie restoration occurring as part of the Herb Gray Parkway project is one of the largest tallgrass prairie restorations in southern Ontario. The Herb Gray Parkway Restoration project is being coordinated by the Ontario Ministry of Transportation (www.hgparkway.ca). Final restoration site (FRS) 32 (1.59 ha; 42.2717 N, 83.0691 W) was a Mineral Cultural Thicket until 2010 when it was brush cut and prepared for tallgrass prairie restoration (Willowleaf Aster Amendment Plan 2011). Final restoration site 23 (1.745 ha; 42.273 N, 83.069 W) was an old field located beside FRS 32 according to aerial photos. The disturbance histories for FRS 23 and 32 were not certain; both sites may have been mown, or used for pasture, because tree encroachment is not observed in an aerial photo from 1951. These sites were considered to be undisturbed. Final restoration site 27 (4.54 ha; 42.229 N, 82.994 W) and FRS 28 (7.7 ha; 42.2287 N, 82.9920 W) were fallow agricultural fields that were last tilled in 2009 (Willowleaf Aster Amendment Plan 2011).



**Figure 2.1.** Thirteen tallgrass prairies in five sampling locations across southern Ontario. Number beside circle indicates number of tallgrass prairies sampled at each location. Map modified from Google Maps (2017).

Table 2.1.	Thirteen tallgrass	prairie sites	across	five sampling	locations	in southern	Ontario	and th	ne year	the s	ite v	was 1	last	tilled	or
disturbed.															

Sampling location	Site	Site abbreviation	Disturbance history	Disturbance group	Sampling dates
	Silphium Prairie	SI	Never tilled	Undisturbed	Jun/Oct 2009 <sup>a</sup> , Oct 2014
	Eliza's Prairie	EL	1940	Undisturbed	Jun/Oct 2009 <sup>a</sup> , Oct 2014
Walpole Island First Nation	Pottawatomi Prairie	РО	≤1943	Undisturbed	Jun/Oct 2009 <sup>a</sup> , Oct 2014
	Mike's Field	MI	1990	Disturbed	Jun/Oct 2009 <sup>a</sup>
	Sandpits Field	SA	2006	Disturbed	Jun/Oct 2009 <sup>a</sup> , Oct 2014
Ojibway Prairie Provincial Nature	1	OPC1	1770	Undisturbed	Jul/Oct 2014
Reserve	2	OPC2	1770	Undisturbed	Jul/Oct 2014
	FRS 23	FRS 23	Unknown	Undisturbed	Jul/Oct 2014
Hore Crow Dorlywow	FRS 32	FRS 32	Unknown	Undisturbed	Jul/Oct 2014
Herb Gray Parkway	FRS 27	FRS 27	2009	Disturbed	Jul/Oct 2014
	FRS 28	FRS 28	2009	Disturbed	Jul/Oct 2014
<i>rare</i> Charitable Research Reserve	Blair Flats	BF	2009	Disturbed	Jun/Oct 2014
Norfolk County	De Maere Prairie	DM	2010	Disturbed	Jun/Oct 2014 <sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Chokroborty Hoque (2011)

<sup>b</sup> Catomeris (2015)

## 2.2 Soil Sampling

A total of forty-eight soil samples were collected in June/July 2014 and seventy-two soil samples were collected in October 2014. At each site six 1 m<sup>2</sup> quadrats were selected haphazardly to best characterize the habitat and five soil cores (2.5 cm  $\times$  20 cm) were collected from each quadrat (approximately 15 cm on the diagonal from each corner and one from the centre), pooled and homogenized. The soil samples were kept on ice during transportation and frozen at -20 °C in the laboratory. All soil samples were wet-sieved using U.S.A. Standard testing sieves (VWR Scientific, West Chester, PA) with different mesh sizes (1.18 mm, 250 µm and 53 µm). A subsample (20 g) of each plot was suspended in a 200 mL glass jar with 200 mL of 0.1 M sodium pyrophosphate (Na<sub>4</sub>P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>) and shaken for five to ten minutes to break up soil colloids. The subsamples were poured over the three sieves and rinsed with dH<sub>2</sub>O for one to two minutes. All organic material (hyphae, spores, roots, etc.) remaining on the three sieves (washed soil) was collected and placed into a falcon tube and frozen at -20 °C. The washed soils were lyophilized in a Virtis Bench Top 3.5 L Freeze Dryer (J & M Scientific, Woburn, MA) overnight. All of the freeze-dried washed soils were ground separately with a mortar and pestle using liquid nitrogen.

#### 2.3 DNA extraction with kit

DNA was extracted using a Soil Microbe DNA MicroPrep<sup>™</sup> kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA). DNA was extracted from all of the June/July and October samples. Subsamples (0.25 g) of the ground washed soils were used as the substrate for DNA extraction. Each sampling site had six separate DNA extracts (one for each sampling quadrat). Each subsample of soil was added to a bead-bashing tube and processed in a FastPrep<sup>™</sup> FP210 machine (Bio101, Qbiogene, Inc., Carlsbad, CA, USA) at a speed 4.0 for 30 seconds, causing physical lysis and homogenization of the soil. The lysate was filtered on a Zymo-Spin<sup>™</sup> IV Spin Filter and the Soil DNA Binding Buffer was added. The Soil DNA Binding Buffer was filtered on a Zymo-Spin<sup>™</sup> IC Column and washed with the Pre-Wash Buffer followed by the Soil DNA Wash Buffer. The DNA was eluted from the Zymo-Spin<sup>™</sup> IC Column with 50 µL of DNA Elution Buffer at 60 °C into a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube for storage. The concentrations of the DNA extracts were determined using a NanoDrop 2000

Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific) and diluted to 20 ng/  $\mu$ L with mH<sub>2</sub>O. The diluted DNA extracts were stored in a freezer at -20 °C prior to PCR amplification.

## 2.4 Past soil sampling

Soil samples collected previously by Chokroborty Hoque (2011) from the five sites in Walpole Island First Nation (listed above) had been kept frozen at -20 °C and were processed using the same procedure as the 2014 samples. The samples collected by Chokroborty Hoque (2011) were added to this study to better characterize the AM fungal communities present in those sites, because the molecular techniques and primers have improved since the original study. Soil samples from each of the five sample sites were collected in both June and October 2009, whereas only four of the sites were sampled in October 2014.

#### 2.5 Molecular analysis

The extracted DNA was PCR amplified with a Glomeromycota-specific primer pair (AMV4.5N-F(AAACTCGTAGTTGAATTTCG)/AMDG-R

(CCCAACTATCCCTATTAATCAT) (Sato et al. 2005). This Glomeromycota-specific primer pair targets the V4 variable region of the small ribosomal subunit (Figure 2.2; Sato et al. 2005). These primers have been shown to detect successfully arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi from all four orders of Glomeromycota (Glomerales, Diversisporales, Archaeosporales and Paraglomerales) from environmental samples (Sato et al. 2005, Lumini et al. 2010, Dai et al. 2013, Bainard et al. 2015). The PCR mix for the Glomeromycota specific primer pair consisted of 9.0  $\mu$ L of DNA extract, 12.5  $\mu$ L of AccuStart II PCR ToughMix (Quanta Biosciences, Gaithersburg, MD), 0.5  $\mu$ L 50x loading dye, and 1.5  $\mu$ L of each primer with a final reaction volume of 25  $\mu$ L. Samples were amplified using a T1 plus Thermocycler (Biometra, Montreal) with an initial denaturing step of 2 min at 94 °C, followed by 29 cycles of 30 s of denaturation at 94 °C, 30 s of annealing at 55 °C, and 18 s of elongation at 72 °C. The data obtained from the Glomeromycota-specific primer pair can be found in Appendix A.

The extracted DNA was also PCR amplified with the BG primer pair (LSU200-F(AACKGCGAGTGAAGMGGGA)/LSU481-R(TCTTTCCCTCACGGTACTTG)

(Asemaninejad et al. 2016). The BG primer pair targets the D1 variable region of the ribosomal large subunit and is semi-selective for Basidiomycota and Glomeromycota (Figure 2.2; Asemaninejad et al. 2016). The PCR mix for the BG primer pair consisted of 4  $\mu$ L of DNA extract, 12.5  $\mu$ L of AccuStart II PCR ToughMix (Quanta Biosciences, Gaithersburg, MD), 0.5  $\mu$ L 50x loading dye, 3  $\mu$ L of each primer, and 2  $\mu$ L mH<sub>2</sub>O with a final reaction volume of 25  $\mu$ L. Samples were amplified with the BG primer pair with an initial denaturation at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, and extension at 72 °C for 18 s (Asemaninejad et al. 2016). Sequences obtained using the BG primers were not included in statistical analyses because they did not produce a representative sample of Glomeromycota. The data obtained from the BG primers can be found in Appendix B.



**Figure 2.2.** Schematic representation of the nuclear ribosomal DNA regions. Vertical boxes represent the two regions amplified by the primer pairs used.

The PCR products were screened for positive amplicons on a 1.5% agar-agar gel containing  $0.5 \mu$ g/mL ethidium bromide. All PCR products from a site were pooled into the same tube. Multiple PCR amplifications in each site were done to increase the chances of amplifying all AM fungal DNA in the site. Pooled PCR products were then submitted to the London Regional Genomics Centre (Robarts Research Institute, London, ON) for sequencing using the Illumina MiSeq platform using a 2 x 300 v3 kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA). The PCR products were equilibrated using a Qubit fluorometer (Life Technologies) and multiplexed with other samples prior to the Illumina run. In multiplex sequencing individual samples must have unique barcodes to allow for identification following sequencing.

#### 2.6 Bioinformatics

The Illumina MiSeq output was processed through a pipeline provided by Dr. Greg Gloor (Biochemistry Department, The University of Western Ontario). The pipeline can be assessed through the GitHub repository (https://github.com/ggloor/miseq\_bin/tree/Jean). To overlap the raw forward and reverse reads, the raw output was processed using PANDAseq (https://github.com/neufeld/pandaseq; Masella et al. 2012). The overlapped output was clustered into identical sequence units (ISUs) and UCHIME (Edgar et al. 2011) was used to remove chimeras. The ISUs were processed using USEARCH v7.0.1090 (Edgar 2010) to cluster the ISUs into operational taxonomic units (OTUs) based on 97% similarity. Rare OTUs (less than 0.1% abundance) were removed from the analyses. A total of three Illumina MiSeq runs were conducted for all of the sites. The data from the three runs were combined into one to be able to compare OTUs from all samples. The OTUs were identified by а nucleotide BLAST search in GenBank (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi) and then a final identification comparing with known reference sequences from the MaarjAM database of Glomeromycota sequences (http://maarjam.botany.ut.ee/; Öpik et al. 2010). The sequences were also matched with their respective virtual taxon (Öpik et al. 2010). All OTUs that were non-Glomeromycotan (<90% similarity to known AMF sequences) were removed from further analyses.

# 2.7 Transformation of sequence data

The transformation of sequence data was conducted in R (RStudio Team 2016). To account for the small proportion of DNA that is extracted from environmental samples and help with the uncertainty of the true number of counts for each OTU the data underwent a centered log-ratio transformation (Fernandes et al. 2013). The count data are transformed to ratios preserving the correspondence to the original sequence data. Transforming the data reduces the number of false positives (Fernandes et al. 2013). The ratios are linearly related allowing for the use of standard statistical analyses. The centered log-ratio transformation is calculated as follows:

$$\log_2\left[\frac{\text{count for each OTU}}{\text{geometric mean of all OTUs in sample}}\right]$$

#### 2.8 Statistical analyses

To analyze qualitatively the transformed sequence data compositional biplots were constructed using the compositions package in R (van den Boogaart and Tolosana-Delgado 2008). The compositional biplots were conducted using the Phi metric. The Phi metric is a standardized ratio that is good at showing associations (Lovell et al. 2015). Compositional biplots summarize all essential results and are a great tool for describing compositional data. The cluster dendrogram using the Aitchison distance metric and the Ward D2 clustering method was created using the compositions package in R (van den Boogaart and Tolosana-Delgado 2008) to visualize how the sampling locations cluster and the relative abundances of OTUs present at each of the sites.

To determine significant differences in the abundance of individual OTUs between "treatment groups" (disturbed and undisturbed sites as defined in Table 2.1), I used the ANOVA-Like Differential Expression tool (ALDEx2), which uses 1000 Dirichlet Monte Carlo replicates to infer abundance from reads and provides p-values corrected of multiple comparisons (Fernandes et al. 2013). ALDEx2 identifies significant taxa whose differences between groups is strong. ALDEx2 was conducted using the ALDEx2 Bioconductor package in R (Fernandes et al. 2013).

Similarly, a comparison between July and October samples were conducted using ALDEx2 and no differences were found. A comparison between samples collected by Chokroborty Hoque (2011) and my samples was conducted using ALDEx2 and no differences were found. Because these comparisons did not have any significantly different taxa they were combined for all analyses.

Disturbance histories were categorized into two "treatment groups" (disturbed and undisturbed sites as defined in Table 2.1). All disturbed TGP sites were combined as statistical replicates. All undisturbed TGP sites were combined as statistical replicates. The two "treatment groups" were used to determine if there was a significant difference between disturbed and undisturbed sites. The comparison between disturbed and undisturbed sites. The comparison between disturbed and undisturbed sites was conducted using ALDEx2 (Fernandes et al. 2013). The raw ALDEx2 p-values were adjusted using the Benjamini-Hochberg False Discovery Rate to help reduce false positives (Benjamini and Hochberg 1995). Results were used to construct a new

compositional biplot and cluster dendrogram using the significant taxa. A heat map of the significant taxa was created using Heatplus (Ploner 2015) and vegan (Oksanen et al. 2016) packages in R.

#### 2.9 Phylogenetic analysis

The phylogenetic tree was built using MEGA version 7 (Kumar et al. 2016). The type sequences from the matching virtual taxa (http://maarjam.botany.ut.ee/; Öpik et al. 2010) were trimmed and added to the file containing the OTU sequences. These sequences were aligned using MUSCLE (Edgar 2004) in MEGA7. After alignment, a Neighbour-joining phylogenetic reconstruction was used to create a phylogenetic tree with bootstrapping analysis (1000 replicates; Felsenstein 1985, Saitou and Nei 1987), better to confirm the identifications of individual OTUs recovered and to show the evolutionary relationships among them.

## Chapter 3

#### 3 Results

## 3.1 Sequence information

A total of 3 113 434 reads were recovered through the Illumina Miseq platform. After grouping reads into identical sequences (ISUs) and removing those that were flagged as potential chimeras (13 754 ISUs), the remaining ISUs were clustered at 97% similarity to yield a total of 1 175 OTUs (operational taxonomic units). Seven samples were excluded from the statistical analyses, because they had very low read counts (less than 10000).

After classification in BLASTn (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi), 177 OTUs were matched as Glomeromycota, represented by 870 307 reads, approximately 28% of the total reads recovered. All non-Glomeromycotan OTUs were removed from the following analyses. In my dataset, the Glomeromycotan OTUs were from nine genera in eight families, indicating good coverage of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Figure 3.1a). The Glomeromycotan OTUs were identified by their best match in the MaarjAM database and assigned a virtual taxon identification (Appendix A; http://maarjam.botany.ut.ee/; Öpik et al. 2010). When comparing the proportion of OTUs I recovered to the OTUs accepted by the MaarjAM database for the major genera a similar trend was observed (Figure 3.1b). The 177 Glomeromycotan OTUs matched with 74 virtual taxa (Appendix A).

Sequences obtained using the BG primers were not included in statistical analyses, because they did not produce a representative sample of Glomeromycota, and could not be identified to virtual taxa because those are based on SSU sequences, not LSU as obtained using the BG primers (http://maarjam.botany.ut.ee/; Öpik et al. 2010). The Glomeromycotan OTUs generated from the BG primers were identified by their best match in BLASTn (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi). The data obtained from the BG primers can be found in Appendix B. Mike's Field was excluded from Appendix B, because it had no reads.



**Figure 3.1.** A) Genera of 177 Glomeromycotan OTUs obtained from field sampling in 13 tallgrass prairies in Ontario, showing the percentage of OTUs recovered. B) Proportion of OTUs accepted by MaarjAM (http://maarjam.botany.ut.ee/; Öpik et al. 2010) for the major genera.

#### 3.2 Differences between seasons

ALDEx2 and a compositional biplot indicated that there were no differences between samples collected in October 2014 and the samples collected there in June 2009 by Chokroborty-Hoque (2011), and so these samples were combined.

June/July and October samples appear on both sides of the compositional biplot, indicating no split in the data between seasons (Figure 3.2). Principal components 1 and 2 explained 33.9% and 17.7% of the variation, respectively. ALDEx2 did not identify any significantly different OTUs between June/July and October, and so these samples were combined.



**Figure 3.2.** Compositional biplot with scree plot for 13 tallgrass prairie sites in Ontario sampled in June/July and October. Compositional data was centre-log transformed. All 177 Glomeromycotan OTUs were used. J= June/July samples and O= October samples.

# 3.3 Differences between disturbed and undisturbed tallgrass prairies

The initial qualitative comparison of disturbed and undisturbed TGPs, using all 177 OTUs, is shown in Figure 3.3. Principal component 1 and 2 explained 36.2% and 19.7% of the

variation, respectively (Figure 3.3). Principal component 1 appears to be explaining variation based on disturbance history, since disturbed and undisturbed sites appear on separate sides of the compositional biplot. There does appear to be clustering based on geographic location when all 177 OTUs are used (Figure 3.3).

Twenty-five OTUs were identified by ALDEx2 as having significant variation based on disturbance class (Table 3.1). The significant taxa identified by ALDEx2 had P-values less than 0.05 with the exception of OTU 4630, which was included because of its relatively large effect size of -1.02. According to the Benjamini-Hochberg correction only four OTUs had a truly significant difference between disturbed and undisturbed sites (Table 3.1). The four significantly different OTUs were found more abundantly in undisturbed prairies (OTU 222, 377, 611 and 3573). Therefore, there are significant differences between AMF communities in disturbed and undisturbed TGPs in this study. A phylogenetic tree of these significant taxa shows that, among the taxa selected for their significant response to disturbance, 14 OTUs of *Glomus*, 2 of *Ambispora* and 1 of *Diversispora* were found in undisturbed sites and 5 OTUs of *Claroideoglomus* and 2 of *Glomus* (OTUs 4552 and 4630) were found in disturbed sites (Figure 3.4).

The final qualitative comparison between disturbed and undisturbed TGPs used only the 25 significant taxa (Figure 3.5). In it, PC1 explains 67.4% of the variation and appears to be correlated with disturbance history, while PC2 explains 11.2% of the variation. All disturbed sites except Mike's Field are on the left side of the biplot, and the undisturbed sites are on the right (Figure 3.5). How the sites clustered can be observed in the cluster dendrogram (Figure 3.6), in which disturbance history formed the basis of the main division, within which sampling sites clustered by proximity.



**Figure 3.3.** Compositional biplot with scree plot for 13 tallgrass prairie sites, combined data from June/July and October. Compositional data was centre-log transformed. All 177 Glomeromycotan OTUs were used. D= Disturbed samples and U= Undisturbed samples. SI= *Silphium* Prairie, EL= Eliza's Prairie, PO= Pottawatomi Prairie, MI= Mike's Field, SA= Sandpits Field, O1= OPC1, O2= OPC2, 23= FRS 23, 32= FRS 32, 27= FRS 27, 28= FRS 28, DM= De Maere Prairie, and BF= Blair Flats. Sites are colour coordinated based on the region the samples were collected (red, black, blue, and green).

**Table 3.1.** Table of significant taxa derived from ALDEx2 (P<0.05). Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) adjusted P-values included. Positive effect sizes reflect greater proportional abundance in undisturbed sites, while negative effect sizes reflect greater abundance in disturbed sites. \* indicates the significant OTUs after the BH correction (P<0.05).

Taxa	diff.btw	diff.win	effect	overlap	P-value	BH
						P-value
OTU_19	4.740	2.790	1.398	0.122	0.01532	0.1316
OTU_60	7.535	2.298	2.588	0.102	0.00590	0.1020
OTU_75	6.498	3.911	1.484	0.054	0.00718	0.1028
OTU_96	5.548	4.947	1.053	0.133	0.03599	0.1671
OTU_109	5.826	3.435	1.504	0.076	0.01081	0.1168
OTU_124	6.796	5.430	1.181	0.135	0.03125	0.1602
OTU_169	8.450	3.572	1.808	0.105	0.01037	0.1155
OTU_179	-5.139	4.479	-1.035	0.144	0.03740	0.1773
OTU_222	5.188	2.309	2.221	0.000	0.00019	0.0171*
OTU_282	6.159	4.858	1.190	0.082	0.01479	0.1242
OTU_377	6.533	3.324	2.014	0.006	0.00252	0.0472*
OTU_554	-4.633	4.215	-1.015	0.097	0.04092	0.1663
OTU_587	5.240	4.218	1.175	0.085	0.01657	0.1285
OTU_604	5.221	4.119	1.336	0.060	0.01102	0.1093
OTU_611	6.761	3.019	2.170	0.003	0.00258	0.0490*
OTU_846	5.232	4.587	1.066	0.122	0.03443	0.1577
OTU_3028	4.556	3.899	1.099	0.122	0.04900	0.1857
OTU_3338	-3.956	3.190	-1.108	0.134	0.02115	0.1492
OTU_3359	8.575	3.800	1.706	0.146	0.01314	0.1245
OTU_3573	6.633	2.688	2.455	0.000	0.00277	0.0497*
OTU_4431	-4.992	4.831	-1.035	0.096	0.04534	0.1795
OTU_4514	5.379	3.021	1.636	0.018	0.00928	0.1041
OTU_4552	-4.203	3.327	-1.293	0.039	0.00774	0.1015
OTU_4630	-5.213	4.769	-1.016	0.128	0.05599	0.2028
OTU_4646	-4.816	3.845	-1.120	0.120	0.03125	0.1601



**Figure 3.4.** Evolutionary relationships of 25 taxa differing significantly in their occurrence between disturbed and undisturbed TGPs in Ontario. Type sequences for the matching virtual taxa were included. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (1000 replicates) are shown next to the branches (Felsenstein 1985). Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA7 (Kumar et al. 2016).



**Figure 3.5.** Compositional biplot with scree plot for 13 tallgrass prairie sites, combined data from June/July and October. Compositional data was centre-log transformed. Twenty-five important OTUs determined using ALDEx2 were used. D= Disturbed samples and U= Undisturbed samples. SI= *Silphium* Prairie, EL= Eliza's Prairie, PO= Pottawatomi Prairie, MI= Mike's Field, SA= Sandpits Field, O1= OPC1, O2= OPC2, 23= FRS 23, 32= FRS 32, 27= FRS 27, 28= FRS 28, DM= De Maere Prairie, and BF= Blair Flats. Sites are colour coordinated based on region samples were collected (red, black, blue, and green).

# 3.4 Arbuscular mycorrhizal communities and potential indicator taxa

In total, nine genera of Glomeromycota were found (Figure 3.1). The majority of the taxa were *Glomus* (103 OTUs) and *Claroideoglomus* (49 OTUs) species. This study also found representative of *Diversispora* (9 OTUs), *Gigaspora* (3 OTUs), *Scutellospora* (3 OTUs), *Acaulospora* (2 OTUs), *Ambispora* (2 OTUs), *Paraglomus* (4 OTUs) and *Archaeospora* (2 OTUs), which shows the success of the AMF primers used.

The differing AMF communities of disturbed and undisturbed TGPs can be observed visually in the relative abundance bar plots below the cluster dendrogram (Figure 3.6) as well as the phylogenetic tree (Figure 3.4). The disturbed TGPs were characterized by 7 OTUs whereas the undisturbed TGPs were characterized by 18 OTUs (Figure 3.4; Figure 3.6).

The dendrogram supports the clustering of sites based on disturbance history (Figure 3.6), with the exception that Mike's Field clustered with the undisturbed sites. The pattern of OTUs differs between disturbed and undisturbed sites. The dendrogram shows that undisturbed sites are dominated by OTU 19 and OTU 60 (both *Glomus* sp.). Disturbed sites have less of a distinctive pattern when it comes to the relative abundance of OTUs present across the different sites within the treatment group (Figure 3.6). Disturbed sites have a larger abundance of OTU 3338, OTU 4630, and OTU 179 (Figure 3.6; Figure 3.7). A heatmap of relative abundances shows that the OTUs may occur in both disturbed and undisturbed TGPs but at a significantly lower abundance in one than the other (Figure 3.7). For a full list of all 177 OTUs and which sites they were found see Appendix A.

The significant taxa may be indicator taxa of disturbed and undisturbed TGPs. The disturbed TGPs are dominated by *Glomus* and *Claroideoglomus* (Figure 3.4; Figure 3.6). The undisturbed TGPs have *Glomus* and *Claroideoglomus*, but they also contain *Ambispora* and *Diversispora* (Figure 3.4; Figure 3.6). *Ambispora* and *Diversispora* may be indicators of undisturbed TGPs. *Glomus* and *Claroideoglomus* may be disturbance-tolerant taxa or generalists.



**Figure 3.6.** Cluster dendrogram and relative abundance bar plots for 13 tallgrass prairies with different disturbance histories in Ontario. Clustering based on the Aitchison distance metric and the Ward D2 clustering method. Compositional data was centre-log transformed. Twenty-five significant OTUs were used. D= Disturbed samples and U= Undisturbed samples. \* indicates disturbed site that clustered with undisturbed sites. For sampling site abbreviations see Table 2.1. For OTU identification see Appendix A.



**Figure 3.7.** Heatmap of 25 significant OTUs with different relative abundances between disturbed and undisturbed tallgrass prairies. For OTU identification see Appendix 1. SA= Sandpits, DM= De Maere, BF= Blair Flats, 28= FRS 28, 27= FRS 27, O2= OPC2, 23= FRS 23, 32= FRS 32, O1= OPC1, PO= Pottawatomi, MI= Mike's Field, EL= Eliza's Prairie, and SI= Silphium Prairie. \* indicates disturbed site that clustered with undisturbed sites. Heatmap created using Heatplus (Ploner 2015) and vegan (Oksanen et al. 2016) packages in R. Clustering of sampling sites is shown in the dendrogram (left) and phylogenetic clustering of OTUs in the dendrogram across the top.

#### Chapter 4

#### 4 Discussion

In this study, 13 tallgrass prairies (TGPs) in Ontario were sampled to characterize arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in disturbed and undisturbed TGPs. Understanding the effect that disturbance has on the species composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) is beneficial, because information on this aspect of the ecology of AMF is lacking. This is the first study to use next generation sequencing to explore AM fungal communities in Ontario TGPs. The study shows that Ontario TGPs host a variety of AMF. A total of 177 operational taxonomic units (OTUs), representing nine genera and all four orders of Glomeromycota, were recovered from the Ontario TGPs surveyed. Molecular studies of AMF using next generation sequencing are increasing, because they allow for discovery of a greater diversity than previous methods based on culturing or spore isolation and micromorphology, or cloning and sequencing of PCR products from soilextracted DNA (Chokroborty Hoque 2011, Stover et al. 2012). For example, this study detected 160 OTUs of AMF from five prairie sites in WIFN, compared to 16 species found in the same sites using a trap culture and spore micromorphology approach (Stover et al. 2012) or 19/14 OTUs found using a PCR, cloning and sequencing approach with two different primers (Chokroborty Hoque 2011). These preliminary studies were able to detect some effect of agricultural disturbance on AMF community composition (Chokroborty Hoque 2011, Stover et al. 2012). The methods used in this study will be a good reference for future studies focusing on the community composition of AMF.

The MaarjAM database of curated AMF reference sequences is a great resource for AMF studies and aided in the identification of the OTUs recovered (http://maarjam.botany.ut.ee/; Öpik et al. 2010). As this database grows the uncertainty of the identification of AMF will decrease improving the detail and precision of future studies on AMF diversity.

The AMV4.5N-F/AMDG-R primer pair (Sato et al. 2005) with the Illumina Miseq highthroughput sequencing platform was a great combination for sequence recovery of AMF. Other studies using this primer pair found similar success in recovering AMF. Two studies focusing on AMF communities in Canadian prairies using the AMV4.5N-F/AMDG-R primer pair found 122 Glomeromycotan OTUs (Dai et al. 2013) and 117 Glomeromycotan OTUs (Bainard et al. 2015). A study by Lumini et al. (2010) used two AMF specific primer pairs, of which AMV4.5NF/AMDG-R (Sato et al. 2005) recovered 117 OTUs of Glomeromycota and NS31/AML (Simon et al. 1992, Lee et al. 2008) recovered 28 OTUs. The NS31/AML primer pair in another study recovered OTUs matching with 133 AM fungal VTs (García de León et al. 2016), whereas in this study my 177 OTUs matched with 74 VTs. When comparing the OTUs recovered in this study with the OTUs/taxa accepted by the MaarjAM database, similar proportions of genera were recovered (Figure 3.1).

## 4.1 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in Ontario tallgrass prairies

Some studies have shown there to be seasonal differences in community composition of AMF (Husband et al. 2002, Vandenkoornhuyse et al. 2002), while others state that there are no seasonal differences in the community composition of AMF (Rosendahl and Stukenbrock 2004, Santos-Gonzales et al. 2007). My study did not show seasonal differences in the species composition of AMF in the TGPs studied, but lacked sufficient information to make definite conclusions. When examining the compositional biplot (Figure 3.2) there is no decisive trend observed of the samples from the two different seasons (June/July and October) grouping together. In this study, each site had one replication per season, so for statistical analyses the sites were combined into statistical replicates for determining seasonal differences. The combination of all sites into statistical replicates could have decreased the chances of observing seasonal differences, because many factors could be influencing how the sites clustered together. Multiple replications per site within the same year would allow for June and October AMF communities for each site to be compared. If comparisons between different seasons within the same site are used it would be a better method for determining seasonal differences in AMF communities. The growth stages of AMF have been shown to differ throughout the seasons, with hyphal biomass peaking in spring and autumn and spore density – for some species – peaking in autumn (Klironomos et al. 1993, Galvez et al. 2001). Understanding seasonal differences in AMF can help us to determine the best time to collect soils to ensure a representative

sample of the AMF community. More studies are needed to determine if there are seasonal differences in AM fungal communities of TGPs.

This study provides the first baseline for the diversity of AMF in Ontario TGPs, and improved depth and resolution over previous studies of AMF in TGPs of Walpole Island First Nation (Chokroborty Hoque 2011, Stover et al. 2012). Nonetheless, it should still be considered a preliminary assessment, for various reasons. The primer pair used amplified a section of the SSU approximately 250 bp long, and when looking at species differences between AMF that may not be a sufficient length. Thiéry et al. (2012) sequenced a 4960 bp segment of SSU, ITS and part of the LSU, and suggested there is low intra- and interspecific variation of the small subunit regions typically studied. This suggests that a larger section of the ribosomal operon may be needed when studying AM fungal communities. Secondly, this study did not consider the plant populations or soil characteristics of the TGPs, which have been shown to influence AMF communities (Egerton-Warburton and Allen 2000, Eom et al. 2000, Bever et al. 2001, Helgason et al. 2002, Husband et al. 2002, Vandenkoornhuyse et al. 2002). The study was small-scale with only one replication for each season, which decreases the information that could have been obtained. Ideally, multiple replications over multiple years would have provided a more thorough characterization of the AMF communities of Ontario TGPs. However, in this preliminary assessment, the number of OTUs of Glomeromycota obtained was greater than what was found in most studies that used the AMV4.5NF/AMDG-R with 454 pyrosequencing (Lumini et al. 2010, Dai et al. 2013, Bainard et al. 2015), and much greater than earlier studies of the same sites using culture-based or cloning and sequencing methods (Chokroborty Hoque 2011, Stover et al. 2012).

The majority of OTUs recovered (103 of 177) best matched sequences in MaarjAM that were identified as *Glomus* spp. Unfortunately, *Glomus* is a vaguely defined genus that includes many unnamed species, and such OTUs should be considered Glomerales incertae sedis (Redecker et al. 2013). This finding is similar to those of other studies focusing on the species composition of AMF. Lumini et al. (2010) recovered 117 Glomeromycotan OTUs, 76.5% of which matched closest to Glomerales. Other studies found similar proportions of Glomeraceae with 76 OTUs (Bainard et al. 2015) and 78 OTUs (Dai et al.

2013) out of approximately 100 Glomeromycotan OTUs. *Claroideoglomus* had the second highest proportion of OTUs, also following with past studies (Oehl et al. 2003, Lumini et al. 2010, Dai et al. 2013, Bainard et al. 2015). Glomeraceae are the most prevalent taxa found in both molecular and past morphological studies. The detection of genera outside the Glomeraceae and the Claroideoglomeraceae (i.e. members of Archaeosporales and Paraglomerales) is a good indicator that in this study a good range of Glomeromycota were recovered (Appendix A). Some past studies have been unsuccessful at detecting Archaeosporales and Paraglomerales (Eom et al. 2000, Li et al. 2007, Alguacil et al. 2008).

#### 4.2 Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and disturbance

The hyphal networks of AMF are extensive, ranging across multiple plant hosts throughout an ecosystem (Smith and Read 2008). Agricultural tillage disrupts the hyphal networks of AMF, not only for the interaction with one host plant, but for all host plants connected in the vast web of hyphae produced by AMF (Jasper et al. 1989, Smith and Read 2008). The disruption of the hyphal network has negative effects on AMF and on the associated plants. When tillage destroys the hyphal network AMF species richness and density decreases (Boddington and Dodd 2000, Jansa et al. 2002). Soil disturbance negatively affects the infectivity of AMF and nutrient uptake by their host plants, causing a decrease in the mutualistic symbiosis AMF have with their host plants (Jasper et al. 1989, Evans and Miller 1990, Miller et al. 1995, Kabir et al. 1999, Mirás-Avalos et al. 2011). Infectivity is negatively affected by disturbance because the hyphal networks need to recolonize the host plant roots, and tillage reduces the number of active hyphae and damages the AMF associated with the plants, which are also disturbed (Kabir et al. 1999, Galvez et al. 2011, Mirás-Avalos et al. 2011). In the AM symbiosis, the hyphal network is essential, because the exchange and transport of nutrients depends on the mycelial network (Miller et al. 1995). Since tillage destroys the mycelial network, it would be expected that disturbed land has a different community composition of AMF than undisturbed land. Knowing the distinction between AMF communities in disturbed versus undisturbed sites is beneficial in understanding AMF ecology and the importance of AMF communities in ecosystem restorations.

My study supported my prediction (based on past research – Boddington and Dodd 2000, Jansa et al. 2002, Lumini et al. 2010, Chokroborty Hoque 2011, Stover et al. 2012) that disturbed TGPs would have a different species composition of AMF than undisturbed TGPs. A similar study conducted on prairies in western Canada also determined that land use history influences AMF community composition (Bainard et al. 2015). With this information, we can conclude that agricultural tillage disrupts the mycelial network of AMF and affects the species composition of AMF.

The negative effect of agricultural tillage on AMF filters up to the host plants, which also may be affected negatively. The negative effects on AMF are informative, because agricultural land is typically used for the restoration of TGPs. Agricultural lands have altered AM fungal communities; therefore, more research is needed regarding the influence of AM fungal communities on restoration projects. It has been stated that restoration should also focus on belowground rehabilitation, not just the aboveground plant community (Smith et al. 1998, Li et al. 2007, Paluch et al. 2013, Middleton et al. 2015). Recent studies have suggested that AM fungal inoculum should be transplanted from native ecosystems to restoration sites to have better success at a complete ecosystem restoration (Smith et al. 1998, Paluch et al. 2013, Middleton et al. 2015). Native AM fungal inocula have been isolated from native prairies and identified using morphology; the inocula were then potcultured using *Sorghum bicolor* and incorporated into prairie restorations (Middleton et al. 2015). The Herb Gray Parkway Restoration utilized soil block transplants from remnant TGPs in Windsor that needed to be relocated, but sampling was prohibited from these specific areas. Soil block transplants have been shown to be beneficial for plant establishment in restorations (Conlin and Ebersole 2001, Bay and Ebersole 2006), but their effect on AM fungal communities has not been studied. Using native inoculum is more time demanding and expensive, but this study supports the idea that using native inoculum may improve ecosystem restorations. If healthy and infective AMF propagules (spores and hyphae) are readily available, they will be able to better aid host plants, because there will be less damage to the AM fungal community. Host plants would benefit from healthy AMF in a restoration, because the plants would be able to gain the benefits of the AM symbiosis quicker. This may cause the restoration site to establish the important characteristics of the desired ecosystem sooner than a site with a damaged AM fungal community. A healthy

AM fungal community is important to the restoration of TGPs, because the characteristic plants of TGPs (such as *Andropogon gerardii*) are heavily dependent on mycorrhizal associations (Hartnett and Wilson 1999, McCain et al. 2011). The suppression of mycorrhizae in TGPs has been shown to alter the plant community to favour C3 grasses and forbs, which have lower dependence on mycorrhizae, and are not the dominant plants in established TGPs (Hartnett and Wilson 1999).

When examining the clustering of TGPs in this study there was an exception to the overall trend. Mike's Field, although classified as a disturbed TGP, clustered with the undisturbed TGPs. This pattern of clustering suggests that Mike's Field, which was released to prairie in 1990, has an AM fungal community closer to the undisturbed TGPs of WIFN. This could mean that the AMF communities of undisturbed TGPs are present after approximately 19 years (Table 2.1) of not being agriculturally tilled. The clustering of Mike's Field with undisturbed TGPs is supported by past studies suggesting that AM fungal communities can transition back to native communities over time (Hamel et al. 1994, Li et al. 2007). The grouping of Mike's Field with the undisturbed TGPs also was observed in a previous study of AMF communities in WIFN (Chokroborty Hoque 2011). Therefore, a better classification of Mike's Field would be with the undisturbed TGPs in this study. Within WIFN, the TGP locations were very close in proximity. Mike's Field and Eliza's Prairie and Sandpits Field and *Silphium* Prairie were adjacent to one another and were most likely the same native TGPs before agricultural conversions. If geographic location was a primary factor, causing the clustering of Mike's Field with Eliza's Prairie and Pottawatomi Prairie, then there should have been similar clustering between Sandpits Field and *Silphium* Prairie. However, there were differences between the AM fungal communities of Sandpits Field and *Silphium* Prairie, which suggests that disturbance history had a greater influence on AM fungal communities than geographic location. However, when examining the cluster dendrogram (Figure 3.6), there was some secondary clustering of sites based on geographic location, because FRS 27 and 28, FRS 32 and 23 and OPC1 and OPC2 clustered together.

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi have different colonization strategies, which could explain the differences between disturbed and undisturbed AM fungal communities. Certain Glomeromycota (i.e. Glomeraceae) that colonize host plants using hyphae would be negatively affected by agricultural tillage, because the mycelial networks lose viability when broken up by tillage (Hamel et al. 1994, Hart and Reader 2004, Mathimaran et al. 2005). Glomeromycota that use spores to colonize host plants (i.e. Gigasporaceae) would be less affected by tillage, because spores have a better chance of survival (Hamel et al. 1994, Hart and Reader 2004, Soteras et al. 2015). The colonization strategies of AMF present in the community would determine which species are viable/present following agricultural tillage. Hart and Reader (2004) also suggest that some Glomeraceae may be able to survive disturbance if the hyphae are well established within plant roots that are not damaged, because this would allow the hyphae to grow out of the roots and colonize other host plants.

#### 4.3 Potential indicator taxa

My study identified some taxa as potential indicators for the ends of the disturbance spectrum. This information could be used in restoration attempts, because knowing which AM fungal species are indicative of undisturbed soils could determine which AM fungal inoculum would be best for restoration. If restorations are seeded with AM fungal taxa that are present in healthy TGPs, it could aid in the success and speed of establishment of dominant C4 grasses that are dependent on mycorrhizae (Hartnett and Wilson 1999, McCain et al. 2011). A summary of what is known about disturbance sensitive and disturbance tolerant AMF can be found in Table 4.1.

The significant taxa segregated by ALDEx2 could be indicator taxa of different disturbance histories, because these taxa occurred in higher abundances in either disturbed or undisturbed TGPs. In this study, disturbed TGPs were dominated by *Claroideoglomus* and *Glomus* spp. The undisturbed TGPs had OTUs of *Ambispora* (OTU 75 and OTU 282) and *Diversispora* (OTU 587) in higher abundance than disturbed TGPs. Undisturbed TGPs also contained various OTUs of *Glomus* (e.g. OTUs 19, 60, 96, 109 and 11 others) that were found in lower abundance in disturbed sites. Although certain OTUs of *Claroideoglomus* were not more abundant in undisturbed TGPs, there were OTUs of *Claroideoglomus* present across both disturbed and undisturbed TGPs. The high abundance of *Claroideoglomus* and certain *Glomus* found across all of the TGPs in this study indicates that *Claroideoglomus* and these *Glomus* spp. may be generalists. Members of *Glomus* have

been shown to dominate both agricultural and untilled soils (Jansa et al. 2003, Mathimaran et al. 2005, Lumini et al. 2010, Mirás-Avalos et al. 2011, Bainard et al. 2015). Unfortunately, information on *Ambispora* and *Diversispora* in the literature does not indicate whether these taxa are disturbance sensitive. With the information obtained from this study I propose that *Ambispora* and *Diversispora* are sensitive to disturbance by agricultural tillage (Table 4.1). *Diversispora* are in the same Order as *Gigaspora*, which is considered disturbance tolerant (Hamel et al. 1994, Hart and Reader 2004, Soteras et al. 2015). Further research should be done in other disturbed and undisturbed locations to support these findings.

Another important genus of Glomeromycota to mention from this study is *Gigaspora*. The number of *Gigaspora* spp. recovered in this study was low (3 OTUs), but the location where these OTUs were found is interesting. *Gigaspora* spp. were found only in De Maere Prairie (Norfolk County) and Sandpits Field (WIFN; Appendix A). These sites are two of the most recently disturbed sites in this study. This supports past literature that Gigasporaceae are disturbance tolerant taxa due to their large spore size and colonization of roots from spores (Hart and Reader 2004, Soteras et al. 2015). The presence of Gigasporaceae in Sandpits Field also was discovered by Stover et al. (2012). In the latter study, Gigasporaceae were found in highest abundance in Sandpits Field, and our studies shared the same five sampling locations in WIFN. Thus, this study supports that *Gigaspora* spp. are tolerant of disturbance by agricultural tillage.

**Table 4.1.** Potential indicator taxa for soil disturbance from literature and findings from this study. Asterisks indicate information was obtained from this study.

	Genus	Colonization strategy	References
Disturbance sensitive	Scutellospora	colonization by spores	Egerton-Warburton and Allen (2000), Jansa et al. (2002), Jansa et al. (2003), Li et al. (2007)
	Acaulospora	colonization by spores	Li et al. (2007)
	Ambispora	unknown	* (select taxa; OTU 75, OTU 282)
	Diversispora	unknown	* (OTU 587)
	Glomus	unknown	* (select taxa; OTU 19, OTU 60, OTU 96, OTU 109, OTU 124, OTU 169, OTU 222, OTU 377, OTU 604, OTU 611, OTU 846, OTU 3028, OTU 3359, OTU 3573, OTU 4514)
Disturbance tolerant	Gigaspora	colonization by spores	* (select taxa; OTU 244, OTU 514, OTU 3339), Hart and Reader (2004), Stover et al. (2012), Soteras et al. (2015)
	Glomus	colonization by hyphae	* (select taxa; OTU 4552, OTU 4630)
	Claroideoglomus	colonization by hyphae	* (OTU 179, OTU 554, OTU 3338, OTU 4431, OTU 4646)
Generalists	Glomus	colonization by hyphae	Egerton-Warburton and Allen (2000), Jansa et al. (2002), Jansa et al. (2003), Mathimaran et al. (2005), Lumini et al. (2010), Mirás-Avalos et al. (2011), Bainard et al. (2015)
	Claroideoglomus	colonization by hyphae	Lumini et al. (2010), Bainard et al. (2015)

#### 4.4 Future research

Because of the lack of replications and the observational nature of this study, there were limitations regarding the statistical power of the results. Unfortunately, gaining high statistical power with such a study would not be easy, because locating multiple sampling locations with the same properties and disturbance histories was difficult. Collecting and processing soil from a large number of sampling locations is a big undertaking. In this study, information about the plant community and soil properties were not collected. Future studies that focus on the influence of other factors, such as geographic location, plant community, and soil properties (such as pH, nitrogen and phosphorus content) would be beneficial and add much needed information about what else could be affecting AM fungal communities.

Future studies conducted on AM fungal communities that are being manipulated by disturbance, nutrient additions, and plant community alterations would aid in furthering our knowledge of AMF communities. Establishing more information on AMF and disturbance in a controlled experimental design would be beneficial, because there is potential for greater statistical power and more definitive conclusions about what is influencing AM fungal communities. This kind of analysis could be conducted at the Michigan Kellogg Biological Station (KBS), because they have many established experimental plots with varying levels of disturbance histories (http://lter.kbs.msu.edu/). The Kellogg Biological Station has a replicated design of common soils, and soils with different agricultural disturbance histories. The experimental plots at KBS would allow for a manipulative microplot experiment imposed on never tilled soil, which would not be possible in restoration areas.

The next steps in AMF research should focus on refining the phylum Glomeromycota. The information available on the Glomeromycota has improved dramatically over the past few years, but more information is needed. Better understanding identification of AM fungal taxa and their characteristics should be a focus of future studies on AMF. These studies will allow for improvements to the identification of DNA-based sequences, which is the easiest way to study AMF community composition. Studies that focus on increasing the

sections of genome used for identifying Glomeromycota will not only help with identification of Glomeromycota, but also help us understand the evolution and relatedness between species. Advancement in this area has begun with single molecule real time (SMRT) sequencing, which was capable of sequencing a large portion of the ribosomal DNA region of Glomeromycota (Schlaeppi et al. 2016).

#### 4.5 Conclusions

This is the first soil survey of the community composition of AMF in Ontario tallgrass prairies utilizing next generation sequencing. The AMF-specific primer pair used recovered a good range of genera from Glomeromycota, although predominantly Glomus were found across all sites. This study added substantially to what was previously known about AMF in Ontario TGPs. My prediction that the AMF communities of disturbed and undisturbed TGPs would be different was supported in this study, except for the AMF community of a single disturbed site (Mike's Field) that grouped with those of undisturbed TGPs. The presence of differences in community composition of AMF based on disturbance supports the idea that native inoculum from established TGPs would be beneficial in any future TGP restoration attempts. Some OTUs were potential indicators of undisturbed TGPs: Ambispora, Diversispora, and some Glomus spp. may be disturbancesensitive taxa. This study supported the literature suggesting that certain *Glomus* spp., Claroideoglomus and Gigaspora spp. are tolerant of disturbance by agricultural tillage. Overall, this study was successful in studying how disturbance is affecting the community composition of AMF in Ontario TGPs and will be a useful resource for future studies on AMF community composition and ecosystem restorations.

#### References

- Alguacil, M. M., E. Lumini, A. Roldán, J. R. Salinas-García, P. Bonfante, and V. Bianciotto. 2008. The impact of tillage practices on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity in subtropical crops. Ecological Applications 18: 527–536.
- Allen, E. B., M. F. Allen, D. J. Helm, J. M. Trappe, R. Molina, and E. Rincon. 1995. Patterns and regulation of mycorrhizal plant and fungal diversity. Plant and Soil 170: 47–62.
- Asemaninejad, A., N. Weerasuriya, G. B. Gloor, Z. Lindo, and R. G. Thorn. 2016. New primers for discovering fungal diversity using nuclear large ribosomal DNA. PLoS ONE doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159043
- Bainard, L. D., M. Dai, E. F. Gomez, Y. Torres-Arias, J. D. Bainard, M. Sheng, W. Eilers, and C. Hamel. 2015. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities are influenced by agricultural land use and not soil type among the Chernozem great groups of the Canadian Prairies. Plant and Soil 387: 351–362.
- Bay, R.F., and J. J. Ebersole. 2006. Success of turf transplants in restoring alpine trails, Colorado, USA. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research **38**: 173–178.
- Benjamini, Y., and Y. Hochberg. 1995. Controlling the false discovery rate: A practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society B 57: 289–300.
- Berbee, M. L., and J. W. Taylor. 1993. Dating the radiations of the true fungi. Canadian Journal of Botany **71**: 1114–1127.
- Bever, J. D., P. A. Schultz, A. Pringle, and J. B. Morton. 2001. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: More diverse than meets the eye, and the ecological tale of why. BioScience 51(11): 923–931
- Boddington, C. L., and J. C. Dodd. 2000. The effect of agricultural practices on the development of indigenous arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi I. Field studies in an Indonesian ultisoil. Plant and Soil 218: 137–144.
- Bowles, J. 2005. Walpole Island Ecosystem Recovery Strategy (Draft 7). Prepared for the Walpole Island Heritage Centre, Environment Canada and the Walpole Island Ecosystem Recovery Team, London, Ontario.
- Brundrett, M. C., L. Melville, and R. L. Peterson (eds.). 1994. Practical Methods in Mycorrhiza Research. Mycologue Publications, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada
- Brundrett, M. C. 2009. Mycorrhizal associations and other means of nutrition of vascular plants: understanding the global diversity of host plants by resolving conflicting information and developing reliable means of diagnosis. Plant and Soil **320**: 37–77.

- Catomeris, C. 2015. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal community response to increased nitrogen deposition in a restored tallgrass prairie. BSc. Honours Specialization Environmental Science Thesis. The University of Western Ontario.
- Chokroborty Hoque, A. 2011. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in tallgrass prairies at Walpole Island, Ontario. M.Sc. thesis, University of Western Ontario.
- Conlin, D.B., and J. J. Ebersole. 2001. Restoration of an alpine disturbance: differential success of species in turf transplants, Colorado, USA. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research 33: 340–347.
- Craig, S., E. Damstra, P. Kelly, P. Leather, J. M. Dunn, L. McDonald, K. McLeod, R. Moore, C. Pope, J. Quinn, A. Reinert, L. Robson, S. Sobek-Swant, S. Whelan, and T. Woodcock. 2014. rare Charitable Research Reserve Environmental Management Plan December 2014. print p 44/ pdf p 45. http://www.raresites.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/2014-rare-EMP-FINAL.pdf
- Dai, M., L. D. Bainard, C. Hamel, Y. Gan, and D. Lynch. 2013. Impact of land use on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in rural Canada. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79: 6719–6729.
- Douds Jr., D. D., and P. D. Millner. 1999. Biodiversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in agroecosystems. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment **74**: 77–93.
- Edgar, R. C. 2004. MUSCLE: multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. Nucleic Acids Research **32**: 1792–1797.
- Edgar, R. C. 2010. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. Bioinformatics **26**(19): 2460–2461.
- Edgar, R. C., B. J. Haas, J. C. Clemente, C. Quince, and R. Knight. 2011. UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. Bioinformatics. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btr381 [PMID 21700674].
- Egerton-Warburton, L. M., and E. B. Allen. 2000. Shifts in arbuscular mycorrhizal communities along an anthropogenic nitrogen deposition gradient. Ecological Applications **10**: 484–496.
- Eom, A. H., D. C. Hartnett, and G. W. T. Wilson. 2000. Host plant species effects on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in tallgrass prairie. Oecologia **122**: 435–444.
- Evans, D. G., and M. H. Miller. 1990. The role of the external mycelial network in the effect of soil disturbance upon vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization of maize. New Phytologist **114**: 65–71.
- Felsenstein J. 1985. Confidence limits on phylogenies: An approach using the bootstrap. Evolution **39**: 783–791.

- Fernandes A. D., J. M. Macklaim, T. G. Linn, G. Reid, G. B. Gloor. 2013. ANOVA-like differential expression (ALDEx) analysis for mixed population RNA-seq. PLoS ONE 8: e67019.
- Galvez, L., D. D. Douds, L. E. Drinkwater, and P. Wagoner. 2001. Effects of tillage and farming system upon VAM fungus populations and mycorrhizas and nutrient uptake of maize. Plant and Soil **228**: 299–308.
- García de León, D., M. Moora, M. Öpik, L. Neuenkamp, M. Gerz, T. Jairus, M. Vasar, C.
   G. Bueno, J. Davison, and M. Zobel. 2016. Symbiont dynamic during ecosystem succession: co-occurring plant and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 92(7): fiw097.
- Gollotte, A., D. van Tuinen and D. Atkinson. 2004. Diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi colonising roots of the grass species *Agrostis capillaris* and *Lolium perenne* in a field experiment. Mycorrhiza **14**: 111–117.
- Halary, S., L. Daubois, Y. Terrat, S. Ellenberger, J. Wöstemeyer, and M. Hijri. 2013. Mating type gene homologues and putative sex pheromone-sensing pathway in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, a presumably asexual plant root symbiont. PLoS ONE 8: e80729.
- Hamel, C., Y. Dalpé, C. Lapierre, R. R. Simard and D. L. Smith. 1994. Composition of the vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi population in an old meadow as affected by pH, phosphorus and soil disturbance. Agriculture, Ecosystem and Environment 49: 223–231.
- Hart, M. M. and R. J. Reader. 2004. Do arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi recover from soil disturbance differently? Tropical Ecology **45**: 97–111.
- Hartnett, D.C., and G. W. T. Wilson. 1999. Mycorrhizae influence plant community structure and diversity in tallgrass prairie. Ecology **80**: 1187–1195.
- Helgason, T., A. H. Fitter, and J. P. W. Young. 1999. Molecular diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi colonizing *Hyacinthoides non-scripta* (bluebell) in a seminatural woodland. Molecular Ecology 8: 659–666.
- Helgason T., J. W. Merryweather, J. Denison, P. Wilson, J. P. W. Young and A. H. Fitter. 2002. Selectivity and functional diversity in arbuscular mycorrhizas of cooccurring fungi and plants from a temperate deciduous woodland. Journal of Ecology **90**: 371–384.
- Husband, R., E. A. Herre, S. L. Turner, R. Gallery and J. P. W. Young. 2002. Molecular diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and patterns of host association over time and space in a tropical forest. Molecular Ecology **11**: 2669–2678.

- Jansa, J., A. Mozafar, G. Kuhn, T. Anken, R. Ruh, I. R. Sanders, and E. Frossard. 2003. Soil tillage affects the community structure of mycorrhizal fungi in maize roots. Ecological Applications 13: 1164–1176.
- Jasper, D. A., L. K. Abbott, and A. D. Robson. 1989. Soil disturbance reduces the infectivity of external hyphae of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist **112**: 93–99.
- Jeffries, P., S. Gianinazzi, S. Perotto, K. Turnau, and J. M. Barea. 2003. The contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in sustainable maintenance of plant health and fertility. Biology and Fertility of Soils **37**: 1–16.
- Johnson, N. C., J. H. Graham, and F. A. Smith. 1997. Functioning of mycorrhizal associations along the mutualism-parasitism continuum. New Phytologist **135**: 575–586.
- Jumpponen, A., J. Trowbridge, K. Mandyam, and L. Johnson. 2005. Nitrogen enrichment causes minimal changes in arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization but shifts community composition—evidence from rDNA data. Biology and Fertility of Soils 41: 217–224.
- Kabir, Z., I. P. O'Halloran, and C. Hamel. 1999. Combined effects of soil disturbance and fallowing on plant and fungal components of mycorrhizal corn (*Zea mays* L.). Soil Biology and Biochemistry **31**: 307–314.
- Kenyon, I. T. 1976. Ojibway Prairie Reserve Archaeological Survey, 1976. Ontario Ministry of Culture and Recreation. 41pp.
- Klironomos, J. N., P. Moutoglis, B. Kendrick, and P. Widden. 1993. A comparison of spatial heterogeneity of vesicular–arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in two maple-forest soils. Canadian Journal of Botany **71**(11): 1472–1480. doi:10.1139/b93-178.
- Koide, R. T., and I. A. Dickie. 2002. Effects of mycorrhizal fungi on plant populations. Plant and Soil **244**: 307–317.
- Krüger, M., H. Stockinger, C. Krüger, and A. Schüßler. 2009. DNA-based species level detection of Glomeromycota: one PCR primer set for all arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist 183: 212–223.
- Kumar, S., G. Stecher, and K. Tamura. 2016. MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. Molecular Biology and Evolution **33**: 1870–1874.
- Lajeunesse, E.J. 1960. The Windsor Border Region. Univ. Toronto Press. 374 pp.

- Lee, J., S. Lee, and J. P. W. Young. 2008. Improved PCR primers for the detection and identification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. FEMS Microbiology Ecology **65**: 339–349.
- Li, L., L. Tao, and Z. Zhao. 2007. Differences of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity and community; between a cultivated land, an old field, and a never cultivated field in a hot and arid ecosystem of southwest China. Mycorrhiza **17**: 655–665.
- Lovell, D., V. Pawlowsky-Glahn, J. J. Egozcue, S. Marguerat, and J. Bähler. 2015. Proportionality: a valid alternative to correlation for relative data. PLoS Computational Biology **11**(3): e1004075. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004075
- Lumini, E., A. Orgiazzi, R. Borriello, P. Bonfante, and V. Bianciotto. 2010. Disclosing arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal biodiversity in soil through a land-use gradient using a pyrosequencing approach. Environmental Microbiology **12**: 2165–2179.
- Malloch, D. W., K. A. Pirozynski, and P. H. Raven. 1980. Ecological and evolutionary significance of mycorrhizal symbioses in vascular plants (a review). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **77**(4): 2113–2118.
- Masella, A. P., A. K. Bartram, J. M. Truszkowski, D. G. Brown, and J. D. Neufeld. 2012. PANDAseq: paired-end assembler for Illumina sequences. BMC Bioinformatics 13: 31.
- Mathimaran, N., R. Ruh, P. Vullioud, E. Frossard, and J. Jansa. 2005. *Glomus intraradices* dominates arbuscular mycorrhizal communities in a heavy textured agricultural soil. Mycorrhiza **16**: 61–66.
- McCain, K. N. S., G. W. T. Wilson, and J. M. Blair. 2011. Mycorrhizal suppression alters plant productivity and forb establishment in a grass-dominated prairie restoration. Plant Ecology 212: 1675–1685.
- McPhee, J., L. Borden, J. Bowles, and H. A. L. Henry. 2015. Tallgrass prairie restoration: implications of increased atmospheric nitrogen deposition when site preparation minimizes adventive grasses. Restoration Ecology 23: 34–42.
- Middleton, E. L., S. Richardson, L. Koziol, C. E. Palmer, Z. Yermakov, J. A. Henning, P. A. Schultz, and J. D. Bever. 2015. Locally adapted arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi improve vigor and resistance to herbivory of native prairie plant species. Ecosphere 6: 276. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/ES15-00152.1
- Miller, M. H., T. P. McGonigle, and H. D. Addy. 1995. Functional ecology of vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizas as influenced by phosphate fertilization and tillage in an agricultural ecosystem. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology **15**: 241–255.

- Mirás-Avalos, J. M., P. M. Antunes, A. Koch, K. Khosla, J. N. Klironomos, and K. E. Dunfield. 2011. The influence of tillage on the structure of rhizosphere and root-associated arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities. Pedobiologia 54: 235–241.
- Morton, J. B. 1988. Taxonomy of VA mycorrhizal fungi: classification, nomenclature, and identification. Mycotaxon **32**: 267–324.
- Morton, J. B., and G. L. Benny. 1990. Revised classification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Zygomycetes): a new order, Glomales, two new suborders, Glomineae and Gigasporineae, and two new families, Acaulosporaceae and Gigasporaceae, with an emendation of Glomaceae. Mycotaxon **37**: 471–491.
- Morton. J. B. 1999. Evolution of endophytism in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi of Glomales. *In* Microbial endophytes. *Edited by* Bacon, C. W., and J.H. White. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 121–140.
- Nei, M., and S. Kumar. 2000. *Molecular Evolution and Phylogenetics*. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Oehl, F., E. Sieverding, K. Ineichen, P. Mader, T. Boller, and A. Wiemken. 2003. Impact of land use intensity on the species diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in agroecosystems of central Europe. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69: 2816–2824.
- Oksanen, J., F. G. Blanchet, M. Friendly, R. Kindt, P. Legendre, D. McGlinn, P. R. Minchin, R. B. O'Hara, G. L. Simpson, P. Solymos, M. H. H. Stevens, E. Szoecs, and H. Wagner. 2016. vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.4-0. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Opik, M., M. Moora, J. Liira, and M. Zobel. 2006. Composition of root-colonising arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in different ecosystems around the globe. Journal of Ecology 94: 778–790.
- Öpik, M., M. Moora, M. Zobel, Ü. Saks, R. Wheatley, F. Wright, and T. Daniell. 2008. High diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a boreal herb-rich coniferous forest. New Phytologist **179**: 867–876.
- Öpik, M., M. Metsis, T.J. Daniell, M. Zobel, and M. Moora. 2009. Large-scale parallel 454 sequencing reveals host ecological group specificity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a boreonemoral forest. New Phytologist **184**: 424–437.
- Öpik, M., A. Vanatoa, E. Vanatoa, M. Moora, J. Davison, J.M. Kalwij, Ü. Reier, and M. Zobel. 2010. The online database MaarjAM reveals global and ecosystemic distribution patterns in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Glomeromycota). New Phytologist 188: 223–241.

- Öpik, M., J. Davison, M. Moora, J. Liira, and M. Zobel. 2014. DNA-based detection and identification of Glomeromycota: the virtual taxonomy of environmental sequences. Botany **92**: 135–147.
- Paluch, E. C., M. A. Thomsen, and T. J. Volk. 2013. Effects of resident soil fungi and land use history outweigh those of commercial mycorrhizal inocula: Testing a restoration strategy in unsterilized soil. Restoration Ecology 21(3): 380–389.
- Pirozynski, K. A, and D. W. Malloch. 1975. The origin of land plants: a matter of mycotrophism. Biosystems 6: 153–164.
- Ploner, A. 2015. Heatplus: Heatmaps with row and/or column covariates and colored clusters. R package version 2.18.0, https://github.com/alexploner/Heatplus.
- RStudio Team. 2015. RStudio: Integrated Development for R. RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA URL http://www.rstudio.com/.
- Redecker, D. 2000. Specific PCR primers to identify arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi within colonized roots. Mycorrhiza **10**: 73–80.
- Redecker, D., I. Hijri, and A. Wiekmen. 2003. Molecular identification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in roots: perspectives and problems. Folia Geobotanica 38: 113– 124.
- Redecker, D., and P. Raab. 2006. Phylogeny of the Glomeromycota (arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi): recent developments and new gene markers. Mycologia **98**: 885–895.
- Redecker, D., A. Schüßler, H. Stockinger, S. L. Sturmer, J. B. Morton, and C. Walker. 2013. An evidence-based consensus for the classification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Glomeromycota). Mycorrhiza 23: 515–531.
- Riley, R., and N. Corradi. 2013. Searching for clues of sexual reproduction in the genomes of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Fungal Ecology **6**: 44–49.
- Rodger, L. 1998. *Tallgrass communities of southern Ontario; a recovery plan*. Revised by Graham Buck 2007.
- Ropars, J., K. Sędzielewska Toro, J. Noel, A. Pelin, P. Charron, L. Farinelli, T. Marton, M. Krüger, J. Fuchs, A. Brachmann, and N. Corradi. 2016. Evidence for the sexual origin of heterokaryosis in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Nature Microbiology doi:10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.33
- Rosendahl, S., and E. H. Stukenbrock. 2004. Community structure of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in undisturbed vegetation revealed by analyses of LSU rDNA sequences. Molecular Ecology 13:3179–3186.

- Rosendahl, S. 2008. Communities, populations and individuals of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist **178**: 253–266.
- Saitou N., and M. Nei. 1987. The neighbor-joining method: A new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Molecular Biology and Evolution 4: 406–425.
- Sanders, I.R., 2004. Plant and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity—are we looking at the relevant levels of diversity and are we using the right techniques? New Phytologist **164**: 415–418.
- Santos-González, J.C., R.D. Finlay and A. Tehler. 2007. Seasonal dynamics of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in roots in a seminatural grassland. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73: 5613–5623.
- Sato, K., Y. Suyama, M. Saito, and K. Sugawara. 2005. A new primer for discrimination of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi with polymerase chain reaction-denature gradient gel electrophoresis. Grassland Science **51**(2): 179–81.
- Schlaeppi, K., S. F. Bender, F. Mascher, G. Russo, A. Patrignani, T. Camenzind, S. Hempel, M. C. Rillig, and M. G. A. Heijden. 2016. High-resolution community profiling of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist 212: 780–791.
- Schnoor, T. K., L. Martensson, and P. A. Olsson. 2011. Soil disturbance alters plant community composition and decreases mycorrhizal carbon allocation in a sandy grassland. Oecologia 167(3): 809–19.
- Schüßler, A., D. Schwarzott, and C. Walker. 2001. A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution. Mycological Research **105**: 1413–1421.
- Schüßler, A., and C. Walker. 2010. The Glomeromycota: a species list with new families and new genera. Gloucester, UK, accessed at http://www.amf-phylogeny.com/.
- Simon, L., M. Lalonde, and T. D. Bruns. 1992. Specific amplification of 18S fungal ribosomal genes from vesicular-arbuscular endomycorrhizal fungi colonizing roots. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 58: 291–298.
- Smith, M. R., I. Charvat, and R. L. Jacobson. 1998. Arbuscular mycorrhizae promote establishment of prairie species in a tallgrass prairie restoration. Canadian Journal of Botany 76: 1947–1954.
- Smith, M. D., D. C. Hartnett, and G. W. T. Wilson. 1999. Interacting influence of mycorrhizal symbiosis and competition on plant diversity in tallgrass prairie. Oecologia 121: 574–582.
- Smith, S.E., and D.J. Read. 2008. *Mycorrhizal symbiosis*. 3rd ed. Academic Press, Cambridge, U.K.

- Soteras, F., G. Grilli, M. N. Cofré, N. Marro, and A. Becerra. 2015. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal composition in high montane forests with different disturbance histories in central Argentina. Applied Soil Ecology 85: 30–37.
- Stover, H., R.G. Thorn, J.M. Bowles, M.A. Bernards, and C.R. Jacobs. 2012. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and vascular plant species abundance and community structure in tallgrass prairies with varying agricultural disturbance histories. Applied Soil Ecology 60: 61–70.
- Thiéry, O., M. Moora, M. Vasar, M. Zobel, and M. Öpik. 2012. Inter- and intra- sporal nuclear ribosomal gene sequence variation within one isolate of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus, *Diversispora* sp. Symbiosis 58: 135–147. doi: 10.1007/s13199-012-0212-0.
- Vandenkoornhuyse, P., R. Husband, T. J. Daniell, I. J. Watson, J. M. Duck, A. H. Fitter, and J. P. W. Young. 2002. Arbuscular mycorrhizal community composition associated with two plant species in a grassland ecosystem. Molecular Ecology 11: 1555–1564.
- van den Boogaart, K. G., and R. Tolosana-Delgado. 2008. "Compositions": a unified r package to analyze compositional data. Computational Geoscience **34**: 320–338.
- van der Heijden, M. G. A., J. N. Klironomos, M. Ursic, P. Moutoglis, R. S. Engel, T. Boller,
  A. Wiemken, and I. R. Sanders. 1998. Mycorrhizal fungal diversity determines plant diversity, ecosystem variability and productivity. Nature **396**: 69–72.
- Vogelsang, K. M., H. L. Reynolds, and J. D. Bever. 2006. Mycorrhizal fungal identity and richness determine the diversity and productivity of a tallgrass prairie system. New Phytologist 172: 554–562.
- Willis, A., B. F. Rodrigues, and P. J. C. Harris. 2013. The ecology of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 32: 1–20.
- Willowleaf Aster Amendment Plan. 2011. Willowleaf aster management, monitoring and habitat restoration plan created to meet conditions of permit number: AY-D-001-09, Issued Under s. 17 (2) (d) of the Endangered Species Act, 2007. Prepared for Ontario Ministry of Transportation. Prepared by LGL Limited.
- Wright, S. F., and A. Upadhyaya. 1998. A survey of soils for aggregate stability and glomalin, a glycoprotein produced by hyphae of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Plant and Soil **198**: 97–107.

## Appendices

**Appendix A.** A list of all 177 OTUs of Glomeromycota recovered from 13 tallgrass prairies in Ontario using AMF primers. Classification of Glomeromycotan OTUs based on the best match to BLAST against the MaarjAM database (http://maarjam.botany.ut.ee/; Öpik et al. 2010). The percent in brackets represents the % identity of the match. "x" indicates presence of OTU at a site (June/July and October data combined). PO= Pottawatomi Prairie, EL= Eliza's Prairie, SI= *Silphium* Prairie, MI= Mike's Field, SA= Sandpits Field, O1= OPC1, O2= OPC2, BF= Blair Flats, DM= De Maere Prairie, 23= FRS 23, 27= FRS 27, 28= FRS 28, 32= FRS 32. Asterisks indicate 25 significant taxa found using ALDEx2.

OTU ID	Best match in MaarjAM	Virtual taxon	РО	EL	SI	MI	SA	01	02	BF	DM	23	27	28	32
1170	Acaulospora sp. (97.7%)	VTX00231							х						
1744	Acaulospora sp. (99.5%)	VTX00026								х					
75*	Ambispora fennica (99.1%)	VTX00283	х	х	х	х		х	х	х		х			х
282*	Ambispora sp. (97.2%)	VTX00283	х	х	х	х			х			х			х
94	Archaeospora sp. (91.1%)	VTX00005									х				
1180	Archaeospora sp. (99.5%)	VTX00338									х				
5	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00056	Х		х	х	х		х		х		х	Х	х
11	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00278	х		х	х	х	х	х		х	х	х	Х	х
24	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00193	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	Х	х
53	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00055	х	х	х	х	х	х	х			х	х	Х	х
67	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00057	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	Х	х
334	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00225					х					х	х	Х	х
507	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00225					х					х	х		х
524	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00225											х		
576	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00193					х			х	х				
1564	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00055	х		х	х	х	х	х			х		Х	х
3338*	Claroideoglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00193	Х		х	х	х	х	х	х	х		х	Х	х
46	Claroideoglomus sp. (90.3%)	VTX00056									х				
4528	Claroideoglomus sp. (92.8%)	VTX00056									х				
1289	Claroideoglomus sp. (93.2%)	VTX00056		х				х					х	Х	х
769	Claroideoglomus sp. (94.6%)	VTX00278									х		х		

OTU ID	Best match in MaarjAM	Virtual taxon	PO	EL	SI	MI	SA	01	02	BF	DM	23	27	28	32
448	Claroideoglomus sp. (95.0%)	VTX00402					х				х		х		
2902	Claroideoglomus sp. (95.0%)	VTX00278									х				
3095	Claroideoglomus sp. (95.0%)	VTX00056					х								
1267	Claroideoglomus sp. (95.4%)	VTX00279	х		х	х						х	х	х	
4951	Claroideoglomus sp. (95.5%)	VTX00056					х								
850	Claroideoglomus sp. (95.8%)	VTX00056									Х				
3641	Claroideoglomus sp. (95.8%)	VTX00056	х			х	х	х	х	х					х
4431*	Claroideoglomus sp. (95.9%)	VTX00279				х	х			х	Х			х	
1353	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.0%)	VTX00340	х	х	х	х	х								х
3331	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.1%)	VTX00056									х				
179*	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.3%)	VTX00279					х	х		х	х		х	х	
554*	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.3%)	VTX00279					х			х				х	
73	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.4%)	VTX00055									х			-	х
200	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.4%)	VTX00402	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
517	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.4%)	VTX00278					х		х		х		х		
2615	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.4%)	VTX00056					х		х		х		х	-	
2978	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.7%)	VTX00056									х			-	
1586	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.8%)	VTX00279					х							х	
7	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.9%)	VTX00276		х	х	Х	х	х	х	х		х	х	х	х
4910	Claroideoglomus sp. (96.9%)	VTX00056					х		х		х		х	х	
3797	Claroideoglomus sp. (97.2%)	VTX00056						х	х					-	х
404	Claroideoglomus sp. (97.8%)	VTX00340	х		х	х	х		х	х	х				х
545	Claroideoglomus sp. (98.1%)	VTX00278							х		х				
4472	Claroideoglomus sp. (98.1%)	VTX00276						х	х				х	-	х
819	Claroideoglomus sp. (98.2%)	VTX00056		х		х	х	х	х	х		х	х	х	х
2593	Claroideoglomus sp. (98.2%)	VTX00276									х		х	х	
3551	Claroideoglomus sp. (98.6%)	VTX00056		х		х	х	х	х	х		х		х	х
4340	Claroideoglomus sp. (98.6%)	VTX00056					х				х				
4646*	Claroideoglomus sp. (98.6%)	VTX00193					х				х		х	х	
2454	Claroideoglomus sp. (98.7%)	VTX00056									х				
3822	Claroideoglomus sp. (99.1%)	VTX00276	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	
18	Claroideoglomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00278		х	х	х	х	х	х	х		х	х	х	х
3344	Claroideoglomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00225					х		х	х			х		
16	Claroideoglomus sp. (99.6%)	VTX00056	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
22	Diversispora sp. (100.0%)	VTX00062	х	х	х	х	х		х	х	х	х			х

OTUID	Best match in MaariAM	Virtual taxon	PO	EL	SI	MI	SA	01	02	BF	DM	23	27	28	32
212	Diversioneng on (100.0%)	VTV00256		v	v	v	011	01	0-	v	v	-0			
315	Diversispora sp. (100.0%)	V1X00550	X	X	X	X				X	X				X
1920	Diversispora sp. (100.0%)	VTX00001	X	X		X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
1830	Diversispora sp. (100.0%)	V1X00054	X					X	X	X	X			-	X
5490	Diversispora sp. (96.9%)	VTX00356				Х					х				
125	Diversispora sp. (98.6%)	VTX00054								Х	х				
587*	Diversispora sp. (98.6%)	VTX00353	х	х	Х	Х						Х			Х
540	Diversispora sp. (99.1%)	VTX00060	х		х	х			х	х	х		х	х	х
1720	Diversispora sp. (99.5%)	VTX00061	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
514	Gigaspora sp. (93.9%)	VTX00039									x				
244	Gigaspora sp. (99.1%)	VTX00039					х				х				
3339	Gigaspora sp. (99.5%)	VTX00039					х				х				
8	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00130	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
19*	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00135	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х
23	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00212	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
33	Glomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00067	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
57	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00222	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
60*	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00117	х	х	х	х		х	х	х		х	х		х
61	Glomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00113	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
66	Glomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00419	х	х			х		х	х	х			х	
68	Glomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00143	х								х				
107	Glomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00214	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х	х		х	х	х	х
122	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00177	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х		Х		х	х
124*	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00088		х	х	х		х	х			Х		х	х
208	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00084	х		х			х	х	х			х	х	х
210	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00151		х		х	х				Х				
215	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00219			х			х	х	х	х		х		х
220	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00084						х	х				х		
222*	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00166	х	х	х		х	х	х			х	х	х	х
242	Glomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00156	х		х	Х	х			х	х			х	
243	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00222	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
265	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00172	х		х						х		х		
300	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00064	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х	х		х	х	х	х
310	Glomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00086	х	х	х	х	х	х	х			х	х		х
315	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00063	х	1	х	Х	х	1	х	1	х		х	х	
360	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00143	1	1		1					х				1

OTU ID	Best match in MaarjAM	Virtual taxon	PO	EL	SI	MI	SA	01	02	BF	DM	23	27	28	32
368	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00345	х		х										х
458	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00063	х			х	х						х	х	
515	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00409					х							х	
601	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00175				х							х	х	
611*	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00053	х	х	х			х	х			х			х
678	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00165	Х	х	х	х						х			
684	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00063					х							х	
688	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00223						х	х						
699	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00093			х			х	х						
711	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00222	х	х	х	х	х			х	х		х	х	
846*	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00129	Х	х	х				х						
951	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00172			х			х							х
1302	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00165			х	х									
1312	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00155											х		
1646	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100.0%)	VTX00070						х							
703	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (93.0%)	VTX00149			х										
271	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (94.4%)	VTX00103	х	х	х	х			х						
3675	Glomus sp. (94.5%)	VTX00202	Х	х	х	Х						х			
1654	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (94.8%)	VTX00130	х						х	х	х				
720	Glomus sp. (95.3%)	VTX00149	Х	х	х				х						
694	Glomus sp. (95.5%)	VTX00122		х	х	х									
314	Glomus sp. (95.8%)	VTX00149			х		х		х			х			х
1762	Glomus sp. (95.8%)	VTX00212	Х	х	х	х			х		х				
2854	Glomus sp. (95.8%)	VTX00212	Х								х				
29	Glomus sp. (96.3%)	VTX00129	х	х	х	х	х		х	х		х			х
3677	Glomus sp. (96.3%)	VTX00202	х	х	х	х			х			х			
2647	Glomus sp. (96.7%)	VTX00130													
2892	Glomus sp. (96.7%)	VTX00129	х	х	х	Х			х						х
2903	Glomus sp. (96.7%)	VTX00130								х	х				
389	Glomus sp. (96.8%)	VTX00202	Х	х	х	х						х			
492	Glomus sp. (97.0%)	VTX00130	х						х	х	Х				
96*	Glomus sp. (97.2%)	VTX00149	Х	х	х	х			х	х					х
1995	Glomus sp. (97.2%)	VTX00143									х				
3278	Glomus sp. (97.2%)	VTX00063					х								
4523	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (97.2%)	VTX00222		1	х		х		х		х		1		

OTU ID	Best match in MaarjAM	Virtual taxon	PO	EL	SI	MI	SA	01	02	BF	DM	23	27	28	32
603	Glomus sp. (97.7%)	VTX00419							х	х	х				
698	Glomus sp. (97.7%)	VTX00143									х				
871	Glomus sp. (97.7%)	VTX00418					х						х	х	
1958	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98.1%)	VTX00093	х		х	х	х						х	х	
2942	Glomus sp. (98.1%)	VTX00143									х				
3531	Glomus sp. (98.1%)	VTX00214			х	х	х			х				х	
4514*	Glomus sp. (98.1%)	VTX00315	х	х	х	х		х	х			х			х
4686	Glomus sp. (98.1%)	VTX00177	х	х	х	Х			Х						
5138	Glomus sp. (98.1%)	VTX00129	х	х	х	х			х						
5369	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98.1%)	VTX00130	х		х	х	х			х	х				
437	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98.6%)	VTX00103			х				х						
478	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98.6%)	VTX00129	х	х	х	х			х						х
604*	Glomus sp. (98.6%)	VTX00159	х	х	х	х		х	х			х			х
1626	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98.6%)	VTX00130			х		х		х	х	х				
2601	Glomus sp. (98.6%)	VTX00130	х		х	х	х		х	х	х				х
3573*	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98.6%)	VTX00053	х	х	х			х	х			х			х
3935	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98.6%)	VTX00219		х	х			х	х				х		
3975	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98.6%)	VTX00143									х				
4552*	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98.6%)	VTX00222	х	х	х	х	х				х		х	х	х
4720	Glomus sp. (98.6%)	VTX00222	х	х	х	х	х	х	х		х		х		х
169*	Glomus sp. (99.1%)	VTX00117	х	х	х	х		х	х			х			х
254	Glomus sp. (99.1%)	VTX00202	х	х	х	х	х					х			х
1054	Glomus sp. (99.1%)	VTX00177	х	х	х	Х	х								
1065	Glomus sp. (99.1%)	VTX00222		х		Х						х			
4447	Glomus sp. (99.1%)	VTX00214					х							х	
109*	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00315	х	х	х	Х	х	х	Х	Х		х	х		х
184	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00125	х	Х	х	Х	х	х	Х	Х	х	х	х	х	Х
260	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00122			х	Х									
373	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00287	х	х		Х						х			
377*	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00053	х		х			х	Х			х			х
430	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00129	х	х	х	Х	х		Х						
450	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00151	х	х	х	х	х							х	х
548	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00146		х		Х							х	х	
599	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00214	х			х	х			х			х	х	
1045	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00069					х							х	Х

OTU ID	Best match in MaarjAM	Virtual taxon	PO	EL	SI	MI	SA	01	02	BF	DM	23	27	28	32
2739	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00197									х				
3028*	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00160	х	х	х	х						х			х
3219	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00063					х							х	
3359*	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00117	х	х	х	х		х	х			х	х		х
3439	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00247	х	х	х	х	х	х			х	х			х
3813	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00064				х	х		х	х		х			х
4630*	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00222	х		х	х	х			х	х		х		
4952	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00199	х	х	х	х				х	х		х		
5175	Glomus sp. (99.5%)	VTX00222	х	х	х	х	х	х	х		х	х	х		х
15	Paraglomus sp. (100.0%)	VTX00281	х	х	х	х			Х	х	х	х	х	х	х
1627	Paraglomus sp. (96.0%)	VTX00351													х
617	Paraglomus sp. (96.2%)	VTX00281									х				
3511	Paraglomus sp. (99.1%)	VTX00239							Х	х	х		х	х	
35	Scutellospora gilmorei (100.0%)	VTX00041	х							х	х				
477	Scutellospora sp. (100.0%)	VTX00052	х								х				
710	Scutellospora sp. (100.0%)	VTX00049						х	х			х			

**Appendix B.** A list of all 43 OTUs of Glomeromycota recovered from 13 tallgrass prairies in Ontario using BG primers. Classification of Glomeromycotan OTUs based on the best match to BLASTn (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi). The percent in brackets represents the % identity of the match. "x" indicates presence of OTU at a site (June/July and October data combined). PO= Pottawatomi Prairie, EL= Eliza's Prairie, SI= *Silphium* Prairie, SA= Sandpits Field, O1= OPC1, O2= OPC2, BF= Blair Flats, DM= De Maere Prairie, 23= FRS 23, 27= FRS 27, 28= FRS 28, 32= FRS 32.

OTU ID	Best match in BLASTn	РО	EL	SI	SA	01	02	BF	DM	23	27	28	32
392	Claroideoglomus claroideum (100%)		х	х	Х			х	х	х	х	х	х
66	Claroideoglomus claroideum (87%)		х		Х	х			х		х		
513	Claroideoglomus claroideum (88%)								х				
11593	Claroideoglomus walkeri (88%)				х			х				х	х
309	Claroideoglomus walkeri (89%)				Х	х	Х	х	х			Х	х
1186	Dominikia difficilevidera (100%)	х	х		х		х				х		х
701	Funneliformis mosseae (100%)		х		х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
88	Glomeromycota sp. (100%)				х	х		х	х		х	х	
131	Glomeromycota sp. (100%)								х		х		
838	Glomeromycota sp. (93%)										х	х	
5644	Glomeromycota sp. (93%)				х						х	х	
403	Glomeromycota sp. (95%)										х	х	х
5969	Glomeromycota sp. (95%)						х						
98	Glomeromycota sp. (96%)								х		х		
222	Glomeromycota sp. (96%)				Х				х		Х		
1406	Glomeromycota sp. (97%)				х								
1644	Glomeromycota sp. (99%)										Х		
803	Glomus aggregatum (100%)								х				
846	Glomus constrictum (100%)				х			х	х		х	х	
782	Glomus coronatum (92%)	х	х	х		х	х			х			х
187	Glomus drummondi (89%)				х				х		х	х	х
92	Glomus drummondi (90%)		х								х	х	х
936	Glomus drummondi (90%)							х			х		
1589	Glomus drummondi (91%)				х								
2381	Glomus invermaium (95%)			х		х							
507	Glomus microaggregatum (93%)				х						х	х	

OTU ID	Best match in BLASTn	PO	EL	SI	SA	01	02	BF	DM	23	27	28	32
1047	Glomus sinuosum (100%)											х	х
958	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (100%)							х				х	
279	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (79%)	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х		х	х
994	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (88%)									х			х
252	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (93%)	х			х		х	х	х			х	х
14068	Glomus sp. (93%)											х	х
331	Glomus sp. (95%)	х			х		х	х	х		х	х	х
765	Glomus sp. (95%)				х							х	х
675	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98%)	х			х	х		х	х		х	х	х
1535	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (98%)				х						х	х	
1728	<i>Glomus</i> sp. (99%)							х				х	
75	Paraglomus brasilianum (96%)							х	х				
181	Paraglomus brasilianum (99%)				х	х		х	х		х		х
991	Paraglomus occultum (98%)												
6176	Paraglomus occultum (99%)												
459	Scutellospora gilmorei (99%)							х	х				
1130	Septoglomus viscosum (100%)				х						х	х	

# Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Sarah N. Allan
Post-secondary	The University of Western Ontario
Education and	London, Ontario, Canada
Degrees:	2009-2013 Honours Specialization in Biology B. Sc.
	The University of Western Ontario
	London, Ontario, Canada
	2013-2017 M. Sc.
Honours and Awards:	<i>rare</i> Charitable Research Reserve Scholarship in Graduate Research 2014
<b>Related Work</b>	Teaching Assistant
Experience	The University of Western Ontario 2013-2015
Presentations:	Disturbance effects on the species composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in Ontario tallgrass prairies. 32 <sup>nd</sup> Great Lakes – St. Lawrence Mycology Meeting. Queens University Biological Station, Ontario, Canada. April 30, 2016.